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minister’s foreword
SANBI Annual Report 2013/14
As a public entity reporting to the Department of Environmental Affairs, the
South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) provides invaluable (DEA)
science-based support for my department to make sound policy decisions to
protect and conserve our country’s natural assets.
In this regard, I am very pleased that the very comprehensive National
Biodiversity Assessment (NBA), led by SANBI was deemed world’s best practice
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) this
financial year. I am also pleased to have launched the publication Life: The State
of South Africa’s Biodiversity, a summarised and simplified version of the NBA
which has been distributed to schools to encourage our youth to engage with
biodiversity and the environment.

The issue
of skilled
professionals
in the field of
biodiversity
remains a
challenge
we must
all respond
to with
enthusiasm

The issue of skilled professionals in the field of biodiversity remains a challenge
,we must all respond to with enthusiasm. It was very heart-warming to launch
the innovative solutions-driven project aptly named Groen Sebenza (Green
Work) on Youth Day in 2013. Over 800 young ‘pioneers’, both unemployed
graduates and matriculants, are being mentored and skilled through a
partnership with over 40 host partners in the biodiversity sector led by SANBI.
The aim is to build a confident and capable cadre of young professionals ready
to contribute, transform and grow the Green Economy.
It is important to inform South Africans of an additional Botanical Garden to the
existing network of the South African National Botanical Gardens (NBG) which
is run by SANBI, this is the first new gardens since 2007. This new Botanical
Garden is known as Kwelera National Botanical Garden and is based in the
Eastern Cape Province. SANBI will continue to establish its national Botanical
Gardens footprint country-wide. In this regard an additional garden will be
formally established at Thohoyandou in Limpopo Province.
In the first 20 years of South Africa’s democracy, our National Botanical Gardens
has received more than 22,7 million visitors. These gardens serve as windows
and ambassadors of our biodiversity. SANBI has been able to generate over
R400 million of income from admissions, rentals and sales, which assisted in
supplementing the government grants to support garden-based operations.
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I want to thank the Board of Directors, the CEO and staff of SANBI for their diligent and sterling management of this
Institute. Their work has ensured that SANBI maintains its status as a reputable generator of science and evidencebased information that continues to support our policy making process.
We are proud of their leadership that ensured the achievement of 90 percent of their targets in the approved
Annual Plans and also maintaining SANBI’s record of unqualified audit opinions over the past few years.

Mrs B E E Molewa, MP
Minister of Environmental Affairs
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON
True to its mandate, SANBI has during the 2013/14 financial year, continued
to harness and champion its multidisciplinary capabilities in the biodiversity
sector for the benefit and enjoyment of society.
Collaboration with partners remains vital to ensure that SANBI is able to deliver
on its wide mandate which includes leading human capital development
for the sector, providing science-based evidence to support sound decisionmaking and policy formulation. We, provide tools and advice for better
biodiversity management. In addition, we also manage an expanding network
of National Botanical Gardens (NBGs), all in support of our country’s growth and
development. Clearly SANBI has had a large measure of success in achieving its
targets and objectives during this year.

SANBI needs
to raise its
engagement
in effective and
appropriate
communication,
with its varied
stakeholders
including the
media, to raise
SANBI profile
and better
showcase the
exceptional work
that the Institute
consistently
performs.

However, there is still scope for SANBI to strengthen its partnerships with
universities, Further Education and Training (FETs), high schools and other
learning institutions to influence curriculum at a very early stage and broaden
the career choices to address human capacity gaps in the biodiversity sector.
Furthermore, SANBI needs to raise its engagement in effective and appropriate
communication, with its varied stakeholders, including the media, to raise
SANBI’s profile and better showcase the exceptional work that the Institute
consistently performs.
I am very pleased indeed that SANBI has acquired two new Gardens this year,
the first new acquisition since 2007. More and more of our people, across the
length and breadth of the country, and particularly those in or near urban
areas, will be able to enjoy these unique ‘windows’ into biodiversity,
An important milestone during this reporting year was the celebration of 100
years of the establishment of the very first Botanical Garden at Kirstenbosch
which boasts a high number of visitors from home and abroad. During this
year, Kirstenbosch NBG, on behalf of SANBI, participated successfully in the
world renowned annual Chelsea Flower Show in London, United Kingdom
(UK), winning our 33rd Gold Award.
I want to take this opportunity to congratulate SANBI’s Chief Executive Officer
(CEO), Dr Tanya Abrahamse on her appointment to the United Nations (UN)
Secretary General’s inaugural Scientific Advisory Board. The mandate of this
body is to provide to the UN Secretary-General and Executive Heads of UN
organisations, advice on science, technology and innovation for sustainable
development. South Africa and SANBI in particular, is very proud of this
achievement and recognition.
The multi-year infrastructure plan was made possible by an increased capital
expenditure funding facilitated by our Department of Environmental Affairs
(DEA) commenced in the year under review. This programme is underspending
on its budget partly because it’s new and rigorous compliance to supply
chain prescripts. However, I am assured of management that the underspend
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represents future committed funds and that the programme establishment has capacity to absorb against plans
and within set and agreed timeframes going forward.
SANBI’s ability to align to national priorities is largely due to its positive relationship with the Minister of Environmental
Affairs and her department. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Minister Edna Molewa and the department
for their constructive support tor SANBI during the past three years of this SANBI Board during the past three years
of their term of office. I am confident that this level of support will continue when a new Board is appointed in
2014/15.
I want to express my sincere thanks to the SANBI Board members whose dedication and commitment to good
governance, effective and efficient delivery of SANBI’s mandate is highly appreciated. In addition, I want to thank
the SANBI CEO, Tanya Abrahamse for her effective and visionary leadership, her Executive team and staff for their
commitment, support and professionalism displayed to ensure that the Institute continues to be highly successful
and impactful. Indeed “together we can do more.”

..........................................................
Mrs ME Magomola
ACTING board CHAIRPERSON
South African National Biodiversity Institute
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members of the board

ACTING CHAIRPERSON
Mrs ME Magomola

CEO
Dr T Abrahamse

Chairperson HR AND
Remco Committee
Dr J Matjila

Mr S Gounden

Chairperson
Governance AND
Strategy Committee
Mr A Frost
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members of the board

Mr F Mketeni

Chairperson Research
And Innovation
Committee
Mrs BD Ngidi

Chairperson Audit
and Risk Committee
Dr ST Cornelius

Mr G Mashamba

Mrs NN Mnqeta
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
The year 2013/14 was characterised by groundbreaking innovative work,
by celebration, and by the stabilisation of finances, human resources and
partnerships. It was a year of high performance against targets and predetermined objectives guided by SANBI’s legislative mandate, approved by the
SANBI Board and the Department of Environment Affairs.

Raising the
profile of
SANBI’s role,
services and
products
proved to be
successful as
evidenced by
the increased
footprint to
our botanical
gardens.

The capacity to deliver in the biodiversity and environment sector depends
on skilled people at all levels and in many sub-sectors. Public, private and
Non Governmental Organisations (NGOs) organisations compete with each
other for these scarce skills, particularly from formerly disadvantaged groups.
A highlight of the year in this regard was the Ministerial launch of the bold
and innovative Groen Sebenza Jobs Fund Project. SANBI is very proud of the
successful implementation of this project where 818 young ‘Pioneers’ are being
skilled hosted by SANBI and 43 Partners from public, private and NGOs within
the biodiversity sector. The ‘pioneers’, all unemployed were drawn mainly from
rural areas, with a high degree of representivity in terms of gender and formerly
disadvantaged groups, and are destined to play a key role in the transformation
and sustainability of the biodiversity sector.
Another highlight of the year under review is the establishment agreement for
two new national botanical gardens (NBGs) in the Eastern Cape (Kwelera) and
Limpopo Provinces (Thohoyandou), respectively after considerable amount
of administration work and consultation with stakeholders. In the future
SANBI-managed NBGs will be in 11 places in South Africa, as sites of learning,
leisure and enjoyment of our unique array of floral biodiversity. This milestone
is a fitting achievement in the year that we celebrated the 100 years of the
establishment of Kirstenbosch National Botanical Garden, SANBI’s oldest and
world-famous conservation garden. Increased activity across all gardens in this
Centenary year resulted in the highest visitor numbers ever, and a 13 percent
increase in our internally generated revenue.
Taking science into policy, SANBI produced the Mining and Biodiversity
Guidelines based on in-depth scientific evidence which mainstreamed
biodiversity into the mining sector, giving clarity for decision makers on mining
activity and to support the protection of vital natural assets. Our Minister, Ms
Edna Molewa and Minister of Mineral Resources, Ms Susan Shabangu co-signed
the guidelines which were produced in collaboration with the Department of
Environment Affairs and the Chamber of Mines of South Africa.
Key to the ability to provide evidence-based science for policy is the primary
science data that SANBI and its partners continue to generate. This year saw the
start of the Department of Science and Technology (DST) funded Foundational
Biodiversity Initiative Project (FBIP) aiming to better co-ordinate and generate
biodiversity information, as well as build our country’s capacity to engage with
the global Bar Code of Life initiative. Also in this regard, we have implemented
the Botanical Research and Herbarium Management System (BRAHMS), a
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globally linked biodiversity information system, which will deliver increased generation, dissemination and access
to biodiversity information.
This year also saw SANBI’s work as the National Implementing Entity (NIE) for the Global Adaptation Fund moving
into gear. Under the leadership of SANBI in co-operation with DEA, the National Planning Commission and National
Treasury, a number of ground breaking in projects have been developed for global funding that will display avenues
for community adaptation to climate change and support resilient livelihoods for some of our poorest people.
The financial year 2013/14, saw an increase of much needed infrastructure funding facilitated by DEA which
contributed to the Institute’s continuing financial stability. This year also saw the maintenance of our Good
Governance record, and improved performance management and compliance as evidenced by another unqualified
audit and almost 95 percent achievement of targets and predetermined objectives of the annual performance plan.
SANBI is committed to the transformation of our entity to be the best that we can be. To this end we put considerable
effort into staff development and sustainable transformation. SANBI’s Sustainable Transformation Action Plan
developed in consultation with all staff in 2010 has had a number of successes this year. For example, the Career
Path for Scientists developed last year began to show productive impact as evidenced by the high number of
publications generated this year, some in international scientific journals. The Career Path for Horticulturists has
been extensively consulted and is now ready to be implemented. Both Career Paths are fit-for-purpose and aimed
at recognising, attracting and retaining staff members to ensure that the Institute has the capability to achieve its
mandate.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the SANBI executive and management teams and all staff for their
diligence, hard work and professionalism that has made this successful year possible. Further, the support of the
Minister of Environment and her department has been invaluable to our successful delivery of mandated objectives,
a heartfelt thanks to our Minister, Deputy Minister, and the Director-General and her team for all the support
provided throughout the year. In addition, I want to thank our excellent SANBI Board, led by the Acting Chairperson,
Ms Nana Magomola. The SANBI Board’s keen oversight, guidance and
support have been central to this successful year. Finally, I would like
to extend my appreciation to the many partners that have helped
SANBI achieve so much this year including, the Department of
Science and Technology, the Development Bank of Southern Africa,
The Lewis Foundation, The Botanical Society of South Africa, and
the 43 partners who participate so actively and constructively in our
Groen Sebenza initiative.
Biodiversity is for life!

..........................................................
Dr. Tanya Abrahamse
Chief Executive Officer
South African National Biodiversity Institute
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EXCO MEMBERS

Back row – left to right: CK Willis, AT Smith, TE Abrahamse,
JS Donaldson
Front row –left to right: ME Khoahli, L Dlamini, CH Mbizvo, KE
Maze, LV Ralepeli, MJ Netshiombo

Inserts

GF Smith

GF Midgley

ML Hamer

ANNUAL REPORT
2013-2014

011

20 years of
democracy sanbi part of
the rainbow
nation
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O U R VISION
SANBI’s vision is biodiversity richness for all South Africans.

O U R MISSION
To champion the exploration, conservation, sustainable use, appreciation
and enjoyment of South Africa’s exceptionally rich biodiversity for all people.

O U R VA LU ES
SANBI is guided by the following organisational values which spell out

“uGreat”

Ubuntu
harnessing, caring, sharing and being in harmony with all of creation

Growth
nurturing and empowering teams and individuals to grow and reach
their true potential

Respect and Tolerance
creating open, honest relationships built on trust, mutual respect,
dignity and fairness AND valuing and accepting individuals and
diversity

Excellence
providing service excellence through passion and professionalism

Accountability
taking pride and responsibility in our work and caring for our
environment and communities

Togetherness
through collaboration we change the world
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useful acronyms
BGCI

Botanic Gardens Conservation
International

DST

Department: Science and
Technology (South Africa)

BGIS

Biodiversity Geographical
Information System

DWA

Department of Water Affairs

EAP

Employee Assistance Programme

BHCD

Biodiversity Human Capital
Development

EBA

Ecosystem-Based Approaches

BMP

Biodiversity Management Plan

ECIC

Export Credit Insurance
Corporation

BOTSOC

Botanical Society of South Africa

ECPTA

C.A.P.E.

Cape Action for People and the
Environment

Eastern Cape Parks and Tourism
Agency

EIA

Environmental Impact Assessment

CAPS

Curriculum Assessment Policy
Statements

EPWP

Expanded Public Works
Programme

CARA

Conservation of Agricultural
Resources Act, Act no 43 of 1983

EWT

Endangered Wildlife Trust

FP6

Framework Programme 6

CATHSSETA

Culture Arts, Tourism, Hospitality
and Sport Sector Education and
Training Authority

GBIF

Global Biodiversity Information
Facility

CBD

Convention on Biological Diversity

GEF

Global Environment Facility

CCBA

Climate Change and Bioadaptation
Division

GIZ

Deutsche Gesellschaft für
Internationale Zusammenarbeit

CEPF

Critical Ecosystem Partnership
Fund

GM

Genetically Modified

COP

GMO

Genetically Modified Organisms

Conference of the Parties

CREW

Custodians for Rare and
Endangered Wildflowers

GSPC

Global Strategy for Plant
Conservation

HAWK

Hangklip Art Week

CSIR

Council for Scientific and Industrial
Research

HCD

Human Capital Development

DAFF

Department of Agriculture,
Forestry and Fisheries

HRD

Human Resources Development

IPBES

International Panel on Biodiversity
and Ecosystem Services

IPCC

AR5 Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change - The Fifth
Assessment Report

IUCN

International Union for
Conservation of Nature

KRA

Key Result Areas

LTSM

Learner Teacher Support Material

MEC

Member of the Executive Council

MOA

Memorandum of Agreement

DBE

Department of Basic Education

DBSA

The Development Bank of
Southern Africa

DEA

Department of Environmental
Affairs

DEDEAT

The Department of Economic
Development, Environmental
Affairs and Tourism

DEFRA

Department of Environment, Food
and Rural Affairs

DG

Director General
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MOP

Member of the Parties

MOU

Memorandum of Understanding

MSB

Millennium Seed Bank (UK)

MSTP

Master Systems Technology Plan

MTA

SARChi

The South African Research Chairs
Initiative

SARS

South African Revenue Services

SIS

Skills Intelligence System

Message Transfer Agent

SKEP

Succulent Karoo Ecosystem
Programme

MTEF

Medium-Term Expenditure
Framework

TAU

Technical Assistance Unit of
National Treasury

MTI

Marine Trophic Index

TOPS

Threatened or Protected Species

NBA

National Biodiversity Assessment

UKZN

University of KwaZulu-Natal

NBF

New Business Finance

NBG

National Botanical Garden

UNDP

United Nations Development
Programme

NDF

Non Detriment Findings

UNEP

NDP

National Development Plan

United Nations Environment
Programme

NEHAWU

National Education, Health and
Allied Workers’ Union (South Africa)

UNFCCC

United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change

NEMBA

National Environmental
Management Biodiversity Act

UNOPS

The United Nations Office for
Project Services

UWC

University of the Western Cape

NFEPA

National Freshwater Ecosystem
Priority Areas

WESSA

NGO

Non-Governmental Organisation

Wildlife and Environment Society
of Southern Africa

NGP

New Growth Path

WSP

Workplace Skills Plan

NIE

National Implementing Entity

WWF-SA

World Wildlife Fund-South Africa

NRF

National Research Foundation

NRM

Natural Resource Management

OD

Organisation Development

OHS

Occupational Health and Safety

PES

Payment for Ecosystem Services

PGWC

Provincial Government of the
Western Cape

ProEcoServe

Project for Ecosystem Services

SABAP2

Southern African Bird Atlas Project
2

SABIF

South African Biodiversity
Information Facility

SAIAB

South African Institute for Aquatic
Biodiversity

SANBI

South African National Biodiversity
Institute

SANParks

South African National Parks
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legislative and other mandates
Legislative and other mandates
The South African National Biodiversity Institute was established in terms of section 10(1) of the National Biodiversity
Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 of 2004). SANBI is a public entity in terms of section 38(1) (m) of the
Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999). It is classified as a schedule 3A entity, i.e. one that will
receive substantial support from the National Revenue Fund.
Section 2 of National Environmental Management Biodiversity Act (NEMBA) stipulates that SANBI’s purpose is to
assist in achieving the objectives of the Biodiversity Act. Section 2 sets the further objectives of the Act, i.e.:
(a)

within the framework of the National Environmental Management Act, to provide for:
(i)

the management and conservation of biological diversity within the Republic and of the components
of such biological diversity;

(ii)

the use of indigenous biological resources in a sustainable manner; and

(iii)

the fair and equitable sharing among stakeholders of benefits arising from bio-prospecting involving
indigenous biological resources;

(b)

to give effect to ratified international agreements relating to biodiversity, which are binding on the Republic;

(c)

to provide for co-operative governance in biodiversity management and conservation; and

(d)

to provide for a South African National Biodiversity Institute.

SANBI’s mandate comes from the National Biodiversity Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 of 2004:
Section 11).
Functions
(1)	The Institute:
(a)

must monitor and report regularly to the Minister on:
1.

the status of the Republic’s biodiversity;

2.

the conservation status of all listed threatened or protected species and listed ecosystems;
and

3.

the status of all listed invasive species;

(b)

must monitor and report regularly to the Minister on the impact of any genetically modified organism
that has been released into the environment including the impact on non-target organisms and
ecological processes, indigenous biological resources and the biological diversity of species used for
agriculture;

(c)

must act as an advisory and consultative body on matters relating to biodiversity to organs of state
and other biodiversity stakeholders;

(d)

must co-ordinate and promote the taxonomy of South Africa’s biodiversity;

(e)

must manage, control and maintain all national botanical gardens;

ANNUAL REPORT
2013/14

016

(f )

must manage, control and maintain:
1.

herbaria; and

2.

collections of dead animals that may exist;

(g)

must establish facilities for horticulture display, environmental education, visitor amenities and
research;

(h)

must establish, maintain, protect and preserve collections of plants in national botanical gardens and
in herbaria;

(i)

may establish, maintain, protect and preserve collections of animals and micro-organisms in
appropriate enclosures;

(j)

must collect, generate, process, co-ordinate and disseminate information about biodiversity and
the sustainable use of indigenous biological resources and establish and maintain databases in this
regard;

(k)

must allow, regulate or prohibit access by the public to national botanical gardens, herbaria and
other places under the control of the Institute and supply plants, information, meals or refreshments
or render other services to visitors;

(l)

must undertake and promote research on indigenous biodiversity and the sustainable use of
indigenous biological resources;

(m)

must coordinate and implement programmes for:

(n)

1.

the rehabilitation of ecosystems; and

2.

the prevention, control or eradication of listed invasive species;

must coordinate programmes to involve civil society in:
1.

the conservation and sustainable use of indigenous biological resources; and

2.

the rehabilitation of ecosystems;

(o)

on the Minister’s request, must assist him or her in the performance of duties and the exercise of
powers assigned to the Minister in terms of this Act;

(p)

on the Minister’s request, must advise him or her on any matter regulated in terms of this Act,
including:
1.

the implementation of this Act and any international agreements affecting biodiversity which
are binding on the Republic;

2.

the identification of bioregions and the contents of any bioregional plans;

3.

other aspects of biodiversity planning;

4.

the management and conservation of biological diversity; and

5.

the sustainable use of indigenous biological resources;

(q)

on the Minister’s request, must advise him or her on the declaration and the management of, and
development in, national protected areas;

(r)

must perform any other duties:
1.

assignment to it in terms of this Act; or

2.

as may be prescribed.
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(2)

When the Institute in terms of subsection (1) gives advice on a scientific matter, it may consult any
appropriate organ of state or other institution, which has expertise in that matter.

48. (3) The Institute must:
(a)

assist the Minister and others involved in the preparation of the National Biodiversity Framework, a
bioregional plan or a biodiversity management plan to comply with subsection (1); and

(b)

make recommendations to organs of state or municipalities referred to in subsection (2); align their plans
referred to in that subsection with the National Biodiversity Framework and any applicable bioregional plan.

60.(2) The Institute must provide logistical, administrative and financial support for the proper functioning of the
Scientific Authority.
SANBI is also responsible for the following regulations in terms of NEMBA:
§§

Threatened or Protected Species Regulations;

§§

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora Regulations;

§§

Draft Alien and Invasive Species Regulations.

Underpinning the successful implementation of provisions of NEMBA is the submission of scientific evidence to
support policy and decision making relating to the conservation and management of biodiversity and the impacts
of and adaptation to climate change.
Key priorities are also derived from official sources that identify issues with a high relevance to policy, such as, the
National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (NBSAP), the National Biodiversity Framework (NBF), government
delivery agreements (Outcome 10), and other national priorities (e.g., wildlife trade, the green economy), and
specific mandates such as provided by the White Paper on the National Climate Change Response Policy (NCCRP).
SANBI manages its human resources through the following legislation:
§§

National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 of 2004)

§§

Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995)

§§

Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997
(Act No. 75 of 1997)

§§

Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act No. 55 of
1998)

§§

Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act No. 97 of
1998)

§§

Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 9
of 1999)

The Institute also complies with the Public Finance
Management Act and relevant Treasury regulations.
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Programme 1
Manage and unlock benefits of the network
of National Botanical Gardens
SANBI’s network of nine national botanical gardens strengthened its roles as key nature-based urban
centres of biodiversity and culture in South Africa. Steady progress was made with implementing the
SANBI Gardens Expansion Strategy. Close collaboration with the Eastern Cape Parks and Tourism
Agency (ECPTA) continued with the Minister of Department of Environmental Affairs publishing
an ‘Intention to Declare’ notice for establishing the Kwelera Nature Reserve as the Kwelera National
Botanical Garden.
Following the completion of the
compulsory 30-day period for
public comment, the Minister is
expected
to
publish
the
declaration notice in the next
financial year. A Deed of Sale for
the acquisition of 10.48 ha of
adjacent land was signed by the
SANBI Chief Executive Officer and
the landowner concerned.
The preferred site, the existing
Thohoyandou Botanical Garden
was confirmed for a new national
botanical garden in the Limpopo
Province. Following extensive
consultation with representatives
of the Limpopo Provincial
Government,
approval
was
granted by the Limpopo Executive Council for the Limpopo Department of Economic Development, Environment
and Tourism (LEDET) to transfer the management of the Thohoyandou Botanical Garden to SANBI to manage,
maintain and develop as a national botanical garden. SANBI will continue to work with DEA and LEDET to ensure
the establishment of the first national botanical garden in the Limpopo Province during the new financial year.
To support some of the smaller non-SANBI botanical gardens in South Africa, SANBI developed a system which
allows gardens to become associated with SANBI through commitment to a range of conservation and bestpractice activities, without any expectation of financial support from SANBI. A Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) between SANBI and the Garden Route Botanical Garden, promoting collaboration and support, was signed
during the year, with a MoU between SANBI and the Stellenbosch University Botanical Garden, scheduled for
signing in the next financial year.
SANBI continued to make significant contributions to the Millennium Seed Bank Partnership managed by the Royal
Botanic Gardens (RBG), Kew, UK. An internal skills audit was undertaken within SANBI and a seed conservation
training course, hosted in collaboration with the RBG, Kew, was held in the Soutpansberg, Limpopo Province, for
SANBI horticulturists and garden-based Groen Sebenza champions in March 2014.
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In 2013, Kirstenbosch celebrated its 100th anniversary. With the support of one of SANBI’s key strategic partners, the
Botanical Society of South Africa, which also celebrated its centenary in 2013, a range of activities were completed
in the 2013 calendar year. In addition to activities completed in the first three months of 2013, additional centenary
activities included a biodiversity art exhibition involving over 2,000 learners from Cape Town schools together with
the Ibhabhathane Art Project and Frank Joubert Art Centre, International Biodiversity Day celebrations, the release
by the South African Post Office of a unique Kirstenbosch Centenary Stamp Series, a Centenary Gala Dinner (1
July 2013), a Silver Tree Restoration Project (held in collaboration with SANParks, E. Oppenheimer and Son (EOS),
Botanical Society, MSB Partnership, and schools), a Kirstenbosch Photographic Competition, Winter Wonders
programme, the 38th Annual Kirstenbosch Plant Fair (held in collaboration with the Botanical Society), opening of
a new Welwitschia Corner Unit in the Kirstenbosch Conservatory, hosting of the seventh Kirstenbosch Botanical Art
Biennale and hosting the 27th Garden Curators Week, amongst others.
The number of visitors for the year totalled 1,430,545 which was seven percent higher than the previous financial
year (1,333,208). This combined visitor number was the highest visitor number ever, in the 100-year history of South
Africa’s national botanical gardens. Visitor numbers for the financial year increased year-on-year in the following
gardens: Free State (48,283; 135%), Hantam (2,358; 36%), Kirstenbosch (829,668; 8%), KwaZulu-Natal (63,255; 4%)
and Pretoria (133,642; 17%). Historically, best ever annual visitor numbers were received by each of the following
gardens: Free State, Hantam, Kirstenbosch and Pretoria. International tourist arrivals at Kirstenbosch reached an alltime high: up 31 percent on the previous year (194,121 compared with 148,379 the previous year). Kirstenbosch’s
popularity as a nature-based attraction with tourists (both local and international) was reflected in it being ranked
number four of 104 tourist attractions in Cape Town Central on www.tripadvisor.co.uk. The Pretoria National
Botanical Garden was voted the winner in the ‘BEST PLACE IN PRETORIA’: PRETORIA’S BEST KEPT SECRET AND BACK
TO NATURE’ category in the ‘Best of Pretoria: Reader’s Choice Awards 2013’. An Art and Fresh Produce Market was
hosted monthly in the Free State NBG, in association with Volksblad and Media 24, realising significantly improved
visitor numbers. SANBI’s NBGs combined were visited by more than 22.7 million visitors over the past 20 years of
South Africa’s democracy.
An income of R42,301,556 was generated by all NBGs
combined for the 2013/14 financial year, representing a 16
percent year-on-year increase on the 2012/13 equivalent
income figure (R36,594,810). The Kirstenbosch concert
season, which included five international events for the
first time in many years, was attended by 133,219 visitors
and generated R12,102,925 in ticket sales and R2,527,319
in sponsorships.
As part of their tourism function, the Gardens continued to
host a range of activities for the public. These included the
Old Mutual-sponsored concerts in Kirstenbosch, Walter
Sisulu and Pretoria NBGs, Sappi-sponsored concerts in the
Lowveld NBG, Arbor Week celebrations as well as a range of other events (e.g. Garden Clean-Up Day, Gardener
Live Expo, Fun Runs/Walks, and events linked to special days) were available to SANBI staff and the public. Various
sponsored Carols by Candlelight events were held in NBGs in November/December 2013.
A very successful Open Air Cinema on the Kirstenbosch Marquee Lawn was held on Wednesday evenings and was
included in the Kirstenbosch events programme during the summer months. A wide variety of quality films and
documentaries were shown on a large inflatable screen.
SANBI’s 38th consecutive annual horticultural exhibit at the Royal Horticultural Society’s 100th Chelsea Flower Show
in London, UK, this year themed ‘Kirstenbosch – 100 Blooming Years’ was once again sponsored by the South African
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Gold Coin Exchange and was awarded its 33rd Gold Medal. The V&A Waterfront sponsored and hosted a recreation
of the SANBI exhibit at the V&A Waterfront in Cape Town during August/September 2013, as part of Kirstenbosch’s
centenary celebrations.
Various staff benefitted from an internal SANBI horticultural staff exchange programme, team coaching for the
Garden Curators, and a range of skills development and training courses presented to garden-based SANBI
personnel. SANBI’s network of national botanical gardens hosted over 90 Groen Sebenza pioneers during the year,
providing training opportunities, mentorship and skills transfer to this vibrant cohort of young and enthusiastic
biodiversity champions.
An agreement was signed with the South African Weather Service (SAWS) for the installation of a national background
air quality monitoring station to be erected in the Hantam NBG, Nieuwoudtville. Further collaboration with SAWS
included a lightning protection, earthing and risk analysis across seven SANBI Campuses. Corrective action in the
Walter Sisulu- and Pretoria NBGs was conducted during the financial year, with further corrective actions planned
in other SANBI centres in 2014/15.
The New Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP) projects, supported by the DEA, were implemented in Pretoria-,
Free State-, Walter Sisulu- and KwaZulu-Natal NBGs. Funds for these projects were and will, amongst other activities,
be used to improve the boundary fencing in the gardens as well as improving pathways, irrigation systems and
removal of alien invasive plants from the natural estates in each of the gardens.
SANBI continued to document and expand the inventory of animal diversity in its Gardens. The numbers of animal
species recorded in the nine NBGs thus far include the following:
§§

37 amphibian species

§§

446 bird species

§§

238 butterfly species

§§

70 dragonfly and damselfly species

§§

92 mammal species

§§

100 reptile species.

The establishment of new gardens in the Limpopo and Eastern Cape Provinces should significantly expand the
numbers of animal species represented in NBGs over the next few years.
New interpretive signage was developed for various gardens, and a Big Bug
sculpture display was launched in the Karoo Desert NBG, following successful
displays in the Walter Sisulu-, Pretoria-, Lowveld- and KwaZulu-Natal NBGs. New
tree routes were established and booklets that were sponsored by the Botanical
Society of South Africa, were published for both the KwaZulu-Natal and Walter
Sisulu NBGs. Self-guided tree routes have now been completed in the following
NBGs: Pretoria, Free State, Lowveld, KwaZulu-Natal and Walter Sisulu NBG.
The revision of the Dragonfly and Damselfly Trail in the KwaZulu-Natal NBG,
established originally by Prof. Michael Samways and his colleagues from the
University of KwaZulu-Natal in 2000, was revised and an interpretive booklet
published with sponsorship received from Sappi.
Several gardens (Kirstenbosch-, Lowveld- and the Pretoria NBGs) were used by local branches of the Adventure Boot
Camp for Women for their weekly outdoor exercise programmes.
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The KZN Garden hosted a successful Sustainable Living and Indigenous Plant (SLIP) Fair Exhibition and represented
SANBI in the Sunday Tribune’s Garden Show in Pietermaritzburg, for which it was awarded a Silver Medal. A new
nursery irrigation system, sponsored by the local Rotary Club in Pietermaritzburg, was installed in the KZN NBG. A
Farmers’ Market was hosted at the KZN NBG every Saturday morning, as from January 2014.
SANBI’s Gardens continued to research and document South Africa’s unique plant diversity and many dedicated
Plants of the Week articles were prepared by horticultural staff in the various gardens. Significant progress was made
in developing a new Career Ladder for Horticulturists, scheduled for implementation in 2015.
SANBI completed many infrastructural maintenance projects across its gardens during the year, ranging from
road and paving repairs to building alterations and refurbishment, replacement of shade roofing in parking areas,
thatch roof maintenance and boundary fence maintenance and repairs, amongst many others. New outdoor gym
equipment, sponsored by the Botanical Society of South Africa, was established in the Walter Sisulu NBG. One of
Kirstenbosch’s Centenary legacy projects, a new 130m-long curved Tree Canopy Walkway (popularly known as the
‘boomslang’ and reaching 11 metres above ground in places) in the Kirstenbosch Arboretum, commenced during
the year, and is expected to be completed in the new financial year. This unique and exciting new project received
much positive media exposure and its opening is eagerly anticipated by members of the public. The Rowland and
Leta Hill Trust granted Kirstenbosch NBG R50,000 sponsorship towards the conversion of the Fern House in the
Kirstenbosch Conservatory to a Cremnophyte (cliff-hanging plants) House.
With the support of Aurecon, SANBI started the implementation of its three-year Infrastructure programme for
the period 2013/14 to 2015/16. Improvements were made to SANBI’s vehicle fleet, with many gardens receiving
much-needed replacements to old and inefficient vehicles, and professional teams were appointed for several
new infrastructure projects across SANBI. These planned projects include new environmental education centres,
refurbishment of existing education centres, herbaria, libraries, research facilities and office buildings. Improvements
were also made to SANBI’s IT infrastructure and research equipment.
Significant damage was caused to infrastructure (bridges, pathways, paving and fencing) in the Harold Porter NBG
as a result of floods experienced in November 2013. Flood damage to river banks and gabion structures along the
Crocodile River that flows through the Garden was also experienced by the Walter Sisulu NBG in February 2014.
Repairs to areas in these two gardens that were damaged by floods are expected to continue into the 2014/15
financial year.

ANNUAL REPORT
2013/14

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

024

Our work starts with a strong
foundation of surveying,
classifying and mapping South
Africa’s ecosystems and species.
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Programme 2
Provide scientific evidence to support
policy and decision making relating to
the conservation and management of
terrestrial and aquatic biodiversity and the
impacts of climate change.
This programme focuses on two main outputs that underpin SANBI’s biodiversity work, namely, the
generation and consolidation of foundational information on biodiversity and the development of a
scientific evidence base for policy and decision making.

The work on foundational information (Strategic Objective 2.1) had five Key Performance Indicators with targets
relating to the compilation, update and verification of key datasets. These targets were all achieved. The datasets
provide a solid understanding of what biodiversity is represented in South Africa and they are critical for many
other components of SANBI’s mandate, such as threatened species assessments, managing invasive species and
biodiversity planning. All plant species (approximately 24,000) occurring in Southern Africa are included in a
regional inventory and this was updated at least four times this year as names or classifications changed or new
species were described. Many of these records are linked to a plant specimen database that now includes more
than a million specimens held in the SANBI herbaria. During this financial year, 23,355 records were verified and
18,553 new specimen records were captured.
To date 36,000 animal species in South Africa were compiled into a national inventory, and another 30,000 remain
to be captured in the inventory. A highlight for this year was the launch of the SeaKeys project, a large collaborative
project between SANBI and 16 other organisations that will deliver national species lists, new species distribution
records, DNA barcodes, new species descriptions, identification guides and maps for marine biodiversity, as well
as new tools for ocean decision-making. This is the first project of the Foundational Biodiversity Information
Programme, which is a joint initiative of the Department of Science and Technology (DST), the National Research
Foundation (NRF) and SANBI.
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In addition to species inventories, SANBI also made significant progress with other datasets for monitoring and
assessing biodiversity. The flagship Southern African Bird Atlas Project 2 (SABAP2) is a popular citizen science
partnership project of SANBI, the Animal Demography Unit at the University of Cape Town and BirdLife South Africa,
which provides open-source data on the distribution and relative abundance of birds. By the end of the 2013/14
financial year, 5.52 million records and 104.480 cards were submitted by 1,414 volunteers, allowing scientific analysis
and policy translation on climate change and conservation biology.
The second Strategic Objective (2.2) deals with building the scientific evidence base for decision making through
research, monitoring, assessment and the publication of state of biodiversity reports. This was done by aligning
work within SANBI and by influencing the generation of scientific evidence within the managed network. Eleven of
the 12 high level targets set for this objective were achieved and one was partly achieved. One of the highlights of
the year was the publication by all SANBI scientists of 127 papers in peer reviewed scientific journals, including 81 in
international journals. This exceeded the original target, which was based on a relatively low expected output due
to the resignation or retirement of senior scientists. However, the expected dip was compensated for by excellent
outputs from other scientists. This increase in productivity is partly due to the implementation of SANBI’s science
career ladder over the past two years, which provided an incentive for producing good scientific publications. In
addition, students’ participating in SANBI’s human capital development programmes added to the publications
output.
Two significant projects on
assessing the threat status
of animal groups were
concluded,
with
the
launch of the national
butterfly assessment in
June 2013 and the
publication of the national reptile assessment early
in 2014. The butterfly assessment represents one
of the country’s largest collaborative projects for
invertebrate conservation projects and assessed
the status of all 794 butterfly species and
subspecies. Butterflies can be used as indicators of
ecosystem health and they are also popular with
the general public, thus serving as important
flagships for the conservation of all invertebrates.
In contrast, reptiles often have a poor public image yet South Africa has the third richest diversity of lizards and the
richest diversity of tortoises in the world. Reptiles have been largely excluded from conservation planning because
of poor data on their diversity, distribution and conservation status. This new information will mean that reptiles will
be better represented in conservation and planning initiatives in the future.
Biological invasions pose a significant risk to South Africa’s biodiversity and ecological infrastructure and SANBI
plays an important role in assessing the risks associated with invasive species. The target for risk assessments was
achieved, focusing initially on plant species that require compulsory control. In addition, there are many species
where evidence to list them in NEMBA regulations was not adequately documented and 10 of these species were
also assessed and data was gathered for a further 40 preliminary risk assessments. At the same time, revision of the
Alien and Invasive Species Regulations in the latter part of 2013 meant that SANBI had to document and collate risk
assessment data on species that were listed in terms of the regulations.
The National Biodiversity Assessment (NBA) is one of SANBI’s main scientific products and the preparations for the
next synthesis in 2018 commenced during this financial year. Several workshops were hosted dealing with the scope
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and content of the next NBA, including one on how benefits from biodiversity could be included and another on
the assessment of genetic diversity. This means that the next NBA will provide a scientific assessment of biodiversity
at the genetic, species and ecosystem levels, together with assessments of invasive species, climate change impacts
and benefits to society. The NBA is dependent on a comprehensive ecosystem classification system for the country
and a workshop was held in 2013 to chart a way forward for ecosystem classification. A major advance this year
was the launch of The Classification System for Wetlands and other Aquatic Ecosystems in South Africa at the 10th
Biodiversity Planning Forum. This milestone is the result of a decade long process to develop a classification system
for South Africa’s wetlands.
A biodiversity monitoring framework was further
developed this year and included the completion of
a draft report on coral bleaching as an indicator of
climate change. Five new temperature recorders
were installed and an annual bleaching survey was
undertaken in May 2013. Students have been
analysing the bleaching data for the period 20072013, building new capacity in this area. SANBI is
currently verifying coral identifications and
bleaching standards with international and regional
participation to strengthen the foundations of this
work.
SANBI influences contributions from the
managed network towards its mandate through
representation and participation in forums and
committees that either direct research or allocate
funding for research. SANBI continued to chair
the Research Advisory Panel for the Department
of Environmental Affairs’ Natural Resource
Management programmes, which allocates
significant funding for research. In addition, SANBI
is represented on the steering committees for two
DST-NRF centres of excellence, one in invasions
biology and another on birds. SANBI scientists
have also been strongly involved with the Applied
Centre for Earth System Science (ACCESS) projects
dealing with global environmental change.
Another highlight in this area was the leadership for
implementation of the DST-funded Foundational
Biodiversity Information Programme and coordinating the Barcode of Wildlife Project in South
Africa.
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When we say we want to save the planet, we
use the word “biodiversity” to encompass this
entire concept - which, granted, is a big one.
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Programme 3
Co-ordinate and provide access to
biodiversity information management and
scientific knowledge
This programme focusses on ensuring that all available scientific biodiversity information is made
freely and openly available to a wide audience to support research, planning, decision-making,
policy formulation, biodiversity monitoring and reporting. The work entails the collation of
biodiversity from within SANBI as well as from its managed network of partners.

The types of information is varied and includes species information, maps, images, scholarly articles and well as
the publication of books. Over the past year, significant progress was made with implementing new systems,
international agreements and co-operations, the collation and publication of new data and working towards
building capacity in the field of Biodiversity Informatics.

South African installation of Botanical Research and
Herbarium Management System (BRAHMS):
SANBI installed a centralised multi-user version of BRAHMS at the end of May 2012. This new systems replaced the
old PRECIS as the herbarium information management system that was in use for nearly three decades.

Working with South- and Southern Africa’s Herbaria
The Biodiversity Information Management (BIM) Directorate of the South African National Biodiversity Institute
is receiving numerous requests for national and regional support for the Botanical Research and Herbarium
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Management System. In response to numerous requests from herbaria to help with the implementation of
BRAHMS implementation, SANBI organised a regional workshop on 25 October 2013 at the Pretoria National
Botanical Garden to develop a shared vision and a way forward. The main purpose of the workshop was to make key
decisions with regard to implementing BRAHMS in South Africa and the region (Africa). The aim of the workshop
was to have stimulating and constructive discussions on the priority areas of common concern, and commitments
by participating institutions.
Key recommendations made at the workshop include:
§§

Committed and collaborative community engagement

§§

Establishing a National Herbaria Committee Forum to build on a shared vision and infrastructure

§§

Establishing a national online BRAHMS data store to help to identify gaps and set priorities for the country

SANBI is unable to provide data migration training because the staff are currently over-committed with meetingsthe
internal demands in the Institute. Once the internal implementation of BRAHMS is stable, external training and
support could be provided. Furthermore, SANBI is currently formalising an agreement with the University of Oxford
to secure further development and technical support for the project.
SANBI will focus on the following action points in the next few months:
§§

Contribute to BRAHMS training through community initiatives

§§

Lead in the establishment of a National Herbaria Committee Forum

§§

Establish a national online BRAHMS data store

§§

Provide resources to herbaria (provide authoritative dictionaries such as taxa updates, gazetteer data,
country, herbarium list, etc.)

Biodiversity Information Management Forum (BIMF):
The BIMF 2013 was held on 19 and 20 November 2013 at the
Walter Sisulu National Botanical Garden, Roodepoort. The
purpose of the Forum is to convene the relevant role-players
in building a common approach in developing and
implementing technology to support the broader objectives
of SANBI and South Africa in effective conservation and
management of our biodiversity. This Forum focused on
developing a national shared vision for a biodiversity
information system that will serve South Africa’s needs.
Partner organisations were invited to nominate a
representative with a high level of data management
experience to attend the workshop. The BIMF built on a
workshop held in February 2013, where SANBI hosted a fiveday workshop with international organisations and countries
to learn from their experiences in designing innovative
biodiversity information management systems. Represented
at the workshop were counties such as Brazil, Mexico,
Australia, Colombia, Denmark, Costa Rica, United Kingdom,
United States of America, and international organisations
such as the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF) and
the Biodiversity Heritage Library (BHL). The international
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workshop emphasised the importance of inclusive governance and using an incremental architecture approach in
building a common system. The agreed shared national vision of a biodiversity information system for South Africa
is: “to provide access to integrated South African biodiversity information”.
The priority work areas identified through engagement with national partner organisations in realising the vision
include:
§§

Building awareness of information resources in the biodiversity informatics community

§§

Consolidating and implementing data management standards and policies

§§

Resolving taxonomic impediments

§§

Understanding end-user needs

Biodiversity Geographic Information Systems (BGIS)
The original Land Use Decision Support (LUDS) tool was retired in December 2012 and since then, the BGIS team
has worked tirelessly to create a tool that mirrors the functions of the original which was launched on 15 November
2013. LUDS allows BGIS users the opportunity to perform a basic environmental assessment on a land parcel, from
the comfort of their office. To use the tool, users simply have to locate their area of interest and the system would
extract and report on the most important biodiversity planning information for that area.
The new system allows for the user to define an area of interest using either a line or polygon drawing tool.
Previously, users were forced to select only ONE land parcel at a time whereas the new system allows users to
perform an assessment on multiple land parcels simultaneously.
The overall benefit of this tool is that it facilitates easier and quicker decision-making by allowing professionals and
decision-makers access to the most recent biodiversity data, in-line with provincial and national land-use decisionmaking processes.

Species Identification Tools:
SANBI is pleased to announce the release of two new
mobile applications “Species ID Tool” and “Cycad ID Tool” for
use with the iPhone, iPad, iPod touch and Android operating
systems. The tools are aimed at law enforcement officers
providing a range of identification abilities. The tools were
designed to be simple and user-friendly, making use of
software to lead the user through a series of interactive
steps, based on easily observable traits of the organism e.g.
skin markings, size, feather markings, until the finest possible
identification is achieved for the organism. To-date, TRAFFIC
has completed identification materials for 140 priority
species; these include plants and animals as well as their
look-alike species and traded parts and derivatives.
The aim of the tool is to assist customs officials, law enforcement officers, border police and Environmental
Management Inspectorates with the identification of threatened species, thus placing them in a better position to
regulate and monitor the trade in South African, threatened or protected species (TOPS) , listed under the National
Environmental Management Biodiversity Act regulations on Threatened and Protected Species and CITES- (a CITES
listed species, listed on one of the Appendices of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species
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(CITES) to which South Africa is a signatory listed species and potentially other traded non-indigenous species
without needing the assistance of provincial nature conservation staff.

South African Biodiversity Information Facility (SABIF)
The SABIF activities for 2013 focused on wrapping up the digitisation projects, conducting training workshops and
continued engagement with the GBIF and the global network. The SABIF programme funded approximately 11
digitisation projects in 2013, which were initiated by partner organisations. This is the last call under the programme
itself. A number of training workshops were conducted and included Biodiversity Georeferencing and Species
Distribution Modelling. SABIF also hosted Building Biodiversity Informatics Institutions and Biodiversity Informatics
Data Analysis workshops lead by the University of Kansas. SABIF played a key role in the Global Biodiversity Information
Facility (GBIF) arena and the regional engagement process, through drafting a paper on the development of an
equitable funding model for GBIF to fund regional meetings. This paper was presented and successfully adopted in
the GBIF budget. A regional meeting was also held in Pretoria in 2013.
South Africa has held the chairperson position for the African GBIF regional group for more than two years. The
position was handed over to Tanzania in 2013.

Information Access
The following tables illustrate the access of some of the biodiversity information from SANBI for the period 1 April
2013 – 31 March 2014:

Access statistics for the key web services
Site

Visitors / day

Page views / day

Total page views

POSA

117

974

355,510

Redlist of SA Plants

188

2,098

765,770

SABIF

129

2,041

744,965

BGIS

1 122

4,339

1,374,076

129

360

129,791

Biodiversity Advisor

The top 10 most downloaded documents for the period 1 April 2013 – 31 March 2014
Document

Number of
downloads

1

Threatened Ecosystems in SA: Descriptions and Maps

165,493

2

Mpumalanga Biodiversity Conservation Plan Handbook

105,475

3

Fynbos Forum Ecosystem Guidelines

100,823

4

NBA2011 Synthesis Report - low resolution

99,545

5

North West Biodiversity Conservation Assessment Technical Report

96,267

6

NBA2011 Life State of Biodiversity - low resolution

88,662
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Document

Number of
downloads

7

NFEPA Technical Report

19,085

8

STEP Handbook

59,976

9

Introduction to GIS

24,146

10

NBA2011: Vol 3: Estuary Component

17,051

SANBI Publishing
In addition to posters that include the Trees of the Year
2013, a large volume of banners, pamphlets, newsletters
and promotional material for exhibitions, national and
international conferences and SANBI projects and
programmes were published. Thirteen publications were
also published during this review period, the most
notable of which were Plants of the Greater Cape Floristic
Region: The Extra Cape Flora (Strelitzia 30), Wasps and bees
in Southern Africa, Bothalia Vol 43,2 and Guide to Plant
Families of Southern Africa (Strelitzia 31), which was
launched in Pretoria in August 2013. All publications are
available as hard copies and on compact disk (CD) and
can be purchased via the SANBI Bookshop.
All publications are also made available electronically
for download from the SANBI and Biodiversity Heritage
Library (BHL) websites.
The change of the SANBI house journal Bothalia from
a plant taxonomic journal to the Bothalia - African
Biodiversity Conservation journal was implemented in this
review period, and will in future include articles that are
based on more comprehensive biodiversity research.
The botanical art of scientific drawing was promoted via outreach activities such as botanical art workshops locally
and by the resident SANBI botanical artist attending overseas conferences and workshops in the United Kingdom
and United States.

SANBI Libraries
A new library catalogue system was installed to ensure effective management of SANBI’s vast collection.
SANBI appointed SONITAS Ad Vitam CC as the service provider for the provision of all its journals.
Thirty six copies of Veld and Flora, 25 copies of Flowering Plants of Africa 63, 56 copies of Strelitzia 30-32 and 1,282
copies of Bothalia 43 were sent to exchange partners worldwide. Volume 27- 30 of Flora of Southern Africa and Strelitzia
6 was digitised by the University of Pretoria. The first four titles of the SANBI Biodiversity Series were digitised and
displayed on Biodiversity Heritage Library (BHL) by the Ernst Mertz Library, Harvard, on request by SANBI Libraries
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A total of 239 books were accessioned and added to SANBI Libraries. One hundred and forty three titles were
classified and catalogued, 125 pamphlets were accessioned and 646 pamphlet records were edited on AmLib
Catalogue. A further 222 copies of titles were barcoded, scanned and added to the catalogue. A total of 369 new
journal issues and 308 newspapers were accessioned and displayed. One thousand two hundred and forty seven
books and 320 journals were issued. A new security system was installed in both libraries.
Collection management planning was held with NBGs. Planning was done with KZN Herbarium for digitisation
training and stocktaking/barcoding of library material. A total of 6,861 enquiries were handled, 1,501 articles scanned
and 224 articles copied and sent as requested. Searches that were done amounted to 7,402. Two hundred and
seventy nine national and 174 international interlibrary loans were requested. The libraries supplied 174 national
interlibrary requests and 108 international interlibrary requests.
Ms Fourie, a SANBI Librarian holds the position of the Biodiversity Heritage Library – Africa Chair and has chaired
several BHL Africa Steering Committee meetings on BHLA development. The intention of BHL is to ensure that all
literature is accessible on the Internet. The outcome of the various steering committee meetings resulted in the
development of a five-year programme that will direct the work of BHL-Africa.
BHL-Africa was launched and at a three-day workshop hosted by SANBI Libraries. Ms Fourie presented papers
at the South African Digitisation Initiative (SADI) Workshop; 20th Congress of Association pour l’Etude
Taxonomique de la Flore d’Afrique Tropicale / The Association for the Taxonomic Study of the Flora
of Tropical Africa (AETFAT), BHL Day at Melbourne Museum; the 5th global BHL Meeting in Lorne; VALA 2014
Conference in Melbourne, Australia; OCLC Europe, Middle East and Africa Regional Meeting in Cape Town. She
visited herbaria and libraries of the Royal Botanic Garden Melbourne, the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney and the
National Library of Morocco in Rabat.
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Healthy rivers and wetlands provide
cost-effective water security solutions
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Programme 4
Provide science-based policy tools and
advice for the effective management
of biodiversity assets and ecological
infrastructure in support of South Africa’s
development
Communicating the value of biodiversity assets and ecological
infrastructure
LIFE: The State of South Africa’s Biodiversity 2012 was launched on International Biodiversity Day, 22
May 2013, by the Minister of Environmental Affairs, Ms Bomo Edna Molewa. “Life” is an accessible document
on the state of South Africa’s biodiversity that aims to inform, educate and inspire citizens and decision-makers to
ensure our biodiversity and ecological infrastructure is a part of South Africa’s development agenda.
With support from the global ProEcoServ project, a branding and communication strategy was developed as part
of Making the Case for Biodiversity. A publication called Making the
Case for Biodiversity: The Biodiversity Case Study Development
Toolkit was produced and distributed to equip researches to collect
compelling information and formulate evocative case studies that
communicate what biodiversity is and how it contributes to socioeconomic development in South Africa.

Tools and pilot projects for
mainstreaming biodiversity
in planning and development
decision-making
The Mining and Biodiversity Guideline was
launched on International Biodiversity Day
by the Minister of Environmental Affairs. The
Guideline is the result of partnerships between
the mining and biodiversity sectors, including the
Departments of Environmental Affairs and Mineral
Affairs, the Chamber of Mines, the South African
Mining and Biodiversity Forum and SANBI. It aims
to provide clear guidance on how biodiversity
considerations should be addressed at each stage
of the mining process. SANBI, at the request of DEA,
provided technical support in the development of
the document. Extensive training on the Mining
and Biodiversity Guideline has been undertaken
to show how biodiversity issues should be
incorporated into mining from the earliest stage in
the mining cycle.
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SANBI produced three major publications from the Grasslands
Programme:
§§

Mainstreaming Biodiversity: Key Principles from the Grasslands Programme which provides
the six key ingredients that emerged as common when biodiversity is successfully mainstreamed into
production sectors (such as agriculture and mining), and highlights the achievements when these
principles were integrated into the biodiversity mainstreaming approach of the Global Environment
Facility funded Grasslands Programme.

§§

The Grasslands Ecosystem Guidelines which provides the first synthesis of existing knowledge on the
management of grassland ecosystems to guide land use, planning and environmental assessment in the
biome.

§§

Grazing and Burning Guidelines: Managing Grasslands for Biodiversity and Livestock
Production which provides grazing and burning best-practice principles in grasslands to help to secure
livelihoods, farm-scale livestock productivity, biodiversity and ecological infrastructure.

SANBI developed a Framework for Investment in Ecological Infrastructure, in collaboration with
partners. The Framework sets out seven principles for investing in ecological infrastructure, to guide the growing
number of projects and programmes in this area or work.
Through the Grasslands Programme, SANBI has supported the Mpumalanga Biodiversity Stewardship Programme
and worked with non-governmental organisation partners, including the Endangered Wildlife Trust, World Wide
Fund for Nature, BirdLife South Africa and the private landowners within the area. A huge achievement from this
partnership was realised when Mpumalanga’s Member of the Executive Council for Economic Development,
Environment and Tourism officially declared five sites, spanning over 73,000 ha, as protected areas in Mpumalanga.

The Biodiversity Stewardship and Land Reform Initiative completed a status report on more than 21 clusters
of land reform biodiversity stewardship projects, active in six provinces, between the relevant authorities,
organisations and land reform beneficiaries. In terms of the Protected Areas Act, 53,383 ha of land reform sites were
declared as some form of protected areas. This exceeds the 40,000 ha target of land declared on land reform sites
that was set in the Outcome 10 Delivery Agreement.
A Working for Wetlands project, focusing on the wise use of wetlands in the Mutale River catchment in
Limpopo, won a Mail and Guardian Greening the Future Award, in the Biodiversity Stewardship category.
In the last two years, the project has employed and trained 40 people as Community Researchers and Monitors to
undertake research on wetlands and livelihoods in their communities, map wetlands in support of rehabilitation
planning and monitor completed rehabilitation work.
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During the 2013-14 financial year, 122 wetlands were under rehabilitation, employing 2,010 people for 198,064
person days and 8,450 training days were held during the financial year under review.
SANBI developed a tool to enhance offshore marine ecosystem protection through describing the potential
impact of the demersal trawl fishery on benthic (seabed) habitats in South Africa, to support the development
of a network of effective spatial management measures in the offshore environment. Fourteen proposed seabed
management areas are recommended to advance management of offshore ecosystems in South Africa.

Facilitating investments in Climate Change Adaptation
SANBI is South Africa’s National Implementing Entity (NIE) of the Global Adaptation Fund.
The NIE is due to submit two fully developed project proposals to the Global Adaptation Fund in mid-2014, for
consideration at the October 2014 Adaptation Fund Board meeting.
The first project, entitled “Building resilience in the greater uMngeni catchment, South Africa” focuses on building
the resilience of vulnerable communities and it will focus on climate smart agriculture, climate proofing settlements
through investments in built and ecological infrastructure, and early warning systems. The uMgungundlovu
District Municipality (UMDM) was identified as the Executing Entity for the uMngeni catchment project which was
submitted for a total value of USD 7,947,625.
The second project, entitled “Taking adaptation to the ground: a small grants facility for enabling local level
responses to climate change in South Africa”, covers the Namakwa and Mopani Districts in the Northern Cape and
Limpopo respectively, and will be a small grant facility that contracts facilitating agencies to work with vulnerable
communities and support them to develop small (approximately USD100,000) projects in these two diverse
areas. The amount requested for a small grants facility (SGF) concept is $1,985,007.50. The project will be led by
SouthSouthNorth in collaboration with Conservation South Africa and a range of local partners.
Both the projects were endorsed by the Adaptation Fund Board in July 2013 for further development. If SANBI
meets the requirements of the Fund, it is expected to receive $10 million to beneficiate communities that are
vulnerable to climate risks in early 2015.
There has been notable national and international interest in South Africa’s experience with the Direct Access
modality to date and South Africa’s NIE has been widely praised by the international community for its best practice
approach to setting up the NIE and developing its programme of work. Our NIE is therefore adding credibility to
further efforts internationally, to facilitate direct access in future funding arrangements.
Through the NIE, we will showcase how investments in climate change adaptation directly benefits human livelihood
and quality of life, while also being aligned with biodiversity and ecosystem resilience outcomes. Nationally, the NIE
projects will provide important lessons for future roll-outs and scaling up of local adaptation efforts.

Knowledge networks and communities of practice
SANBI in collaboration with the Free State Department of Economic Development, Tourism and Environmental
Affairs hosted the 10th National Biodiversity Planning Forum at the Golden Gate Highlands National Park
in the Free State. Addressed by the Mayor of Maluti-a-Phofung Municipality, over 170 delegates from across the
country attended the Forum, bringing together a decade’s worth of scientific achievements in developing spatial
tools to ensure that biodiversity is a fundamental component of South Africa’s development agenda.
SANBI hosted a high-level Ecological Infrastructure and Water Security Dialogue and launched the
uMngeni Ecological Infrastructure Partnership with 17 organisations signing the MoU. The purpose of
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the national dialogue was to discuss the role of Ecological Infrastructure in securing South Africa’s water future and
allowed for valuable discussions among government, municipal managers, engineers, economic development,
non-governmental organisations and business chambers. SANBI secured a grant of R2.5 million from the Green
Fund for a research project on Ecological Infrastructure in the uMngeni Catchment.
SANBI hosted the first meeting of Freshwater Ecosystem Network. The initial focus of the network was on
integrating freshwater ecosystem priorities into classification of water resources. Forty-nine people attended the
meeting including senior officials from the Department of Water Affairs (DWA) and representatives from eight
provinces. There was a clear demand for SANBI to convene the network annually.
SANBI and the Wildlands Conservation Trust hosted the first Forum for the Maputaland-Pondoland-Albany
Hotspot (MPAH) in Pietermaritzburg, bringing together 93 partners and implementers in the MPAH initiative, which
is funded by the Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund (CEPF).
SANBI’s Municipal Programme co-ordinated a project to bring together residents of Gobodweni village in
Pondoland, local NGOs, and tourism and scientific expertise, to explore how residents could realise their dream of
the area becoming a tourist attraction to create employment and income generation opportunities for the
young people in the village. As a result, the village will do an audit of their tourism assets and draft a business plan
for the initiative.

Supporting national policy development based on the best
available science
The final National Water Resource Strategy II was published by DWA, incorporating substantial inputs on
freshwater ecosystems that was provided by a group of experts who were convened by SANBI. This is the first formal
instrument of government policy to incorporate the concept of ecological infrastructure.
Norms and Standards for Biodiversity Management Plans for Ecosystems (BMP-E), which were developed by
SANBI in consultation with stakeholders at the request of DEA, were published by the Minister in February 2014, in
terms of the Biodiversity Act. This paves the way for development of BMP-Es, which provide a tool for formalising the
involvement of multiple stakeholders in the management of ecosystems that are of special concern.

Supporting international policy processes
SANBI developed South Africa’s Fifth National Report to the Convention of Biological Diversity (CBD),
at the request of DEA. This report highlights South Africa’s achievements in implementing the CBD over the
last five years. South Africa was the first country to submit its report, ahead of schedule, and the Minister received
commendation from the CBD’s Executive Secretary on the high quality of the report.
The National Biodiversity Assessment 2011 was highlighted as a major achievement for South Africa at
the launch of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s (OECD’s) Environmental Performance
Reviews: South Africa 2013. Chapter 5 of the report refers extensively to the NBA, and states that “The methodology
developed, the quality of the data assembled and the level of analysis are at the forefront of international
practice.” Following the launch of the OECD Environmental Performance Review, SANBI was invited to participate
in a policy dialogue on implementation of the Green Economy in South Africa.
SANBI and the Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel of the Global Environment Facility co-hosted a global workshop
on mainstreaming biodiversity which was attended by 35 delegates. Mainstreaming lessons from around the
globe were reviewed and synthesised into a publication entitled Mainstreaming Biodiversity in Practice.
SANBI was invited to provide specialist input on South Africa’s experience in biodiversity offsets policy and
practice for an OECD position paper and participated in an OECD conference held in Paris.
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We can no longer see the continued loss of biodiversity as an issue
separate from the core concerns of society: to tackle poverty,
to improve the health, prosperity and security of present and
future generations, and to deal with climate change.
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Programme 5
Drive Human Capital Development, Education
and Awareness in response to SANBI’s
mandate
Environmental Education Centres
that are located in the nine
national botanical gardens, all
deliver the Biodiversity Education
Programme. Through this
programme, 47,073 beneficiaries
were reached consisting of 25
youth groups (1,225 beneficiaries),
1,867 beneficiaries from special
needs schools, orphanages, etc.
and 10,018 learners from 135 ‘new’
schools.
Numerous adult groups comprising of national and international universities and colleges, as well as conservation
and community organisations participated in the programme with ‘lessons’ specifically designed to meet their
needs.
The directorate was commissioned by United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO)
to conduct a research project aimed at contributing towards the development of a national strategy on Climate
Change Education (CCED). The project was completed and together with the University of Rhodes, the current
status of CCED in the country, recommendations for the strategy and its implementation plan was produced.
Following research undertaken by the directorate into ‘Approaches to Careers in Schools’, a structured biodiversity
career programme was implemented. The programme for primary schools involved short dramatisations of
different careers while for high schools learners, pre-visit activities were conducted. On Career Day, learners were
engaged in focused activities with a range of stakeholders at different Environmental Education Centres. The Career
Day activities were followed by ‘post visit’ activities carried out by the teachers at the schools. Teacher workshops
were also conducted on biodiversity careers so as to address the research finding that suggests that the teachers’
capacity to teach about careers in biodiversity in particular, is weak. As a result, such careers are often over looked
by teachers.
Awareness-raising events were facilitated during Biodiversity Week, Environmental Week, Arbor Week, Climate
Change Week, Marine Week, Weedbuster Week, Wetlands Week, Water Week and Mandela Day, with 1,613
beneficiaries reached. The approach used involved a combination of activities both in the national botanical
gardens and in the communities, so as to increase SANBI’s visibility in the communities. Awareness-raising was
also conducted with the Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP) workers who were hired through the Garden
Conservation directorate. The workers’ awareness was raised on the importance of customer care, biodiversity, and
the difference between indigenous and exotic plants, waste minimisation and management, water and energy
conservation.
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Despite the fact that resources were significantly diminished for the Outreach Greening Programme (ORG), a
few Environmental Education Centres were in position to empower 14 schools and community organisations to
develop their own indigenous gardens and the Greening of the Qaukeni Project was concluded with 12 schools
greened, the Royal Cultural Villages and the graveyards landscaped and greened.
The GreenMatter Fellowship that was established in 2012, has grown in its support of outstanding biodiversity
champions and leaders in South Africa. To date, the community has expanded to include 32 Masters, PhD,
Professional Development, Senior Fellowship awardees and 18 Alumni. Two Senior Fellows also joined the
GreenMatter Fellowship Community, namely Prof Heila Lotz-Sisitka, Murray and Roberts Chair of Environmental
Education and Sustainability at Rhodes University and Yolan Friedmann, Chief Executive Officer of the Endangered
Wildlife Trust (EWT).
The GreenMatter supported Fundisa for Change (teach for change) initiative, comprising of over 21 partners
and developed seven new teacher education resources for teachers teaching Grades 10-12. In 2013, www.
fundisaforchange.co.za was launched, in time to provide access to core resources and provide an online presence for
the National Teacher Educators Conference that was held in early 2014 with the added assistance of the Department
of Environmental Affairs, GreenMatter and SANBI staff. Approval, from the Department of Basic Education (DBE)
was received for the Fundisa Business Plan, paving the way for greater national impact. Through the pilot training
courses and train-the-trainer courses, Fundisa for Change, has to date involved 82 teachers in six provinces and 120
teacher trainers.
The need for a local, updated tertiary teaching resource and the establishment of Biodiversity Centres of Excellence,
were two higher education initiatives that were prioritised, as a result of four regional university and employer
initiatives, engaging approximately 80 partners, during 2013. GreenMatter partner World-Wide Fund-South Africa
(WWF-SA), also facilitated the support of the Sector Education and Training Authorities (SETAs) in the form of over
R3 million that was earmarked for biodiversity work integrated learning opportunities.
Groen Sebenza is a Jobs Fund Pilot Project aimed at developing priority skills in the biodiversity sector to create
sustainable job opportunities. Since its inception in May 2013, it has created 816 job opportunities for unemployed
youth in the biodiversity sector, exceeding the initial target of 800. The project partnership base increased drastically
exceeding the target set during the launch to 43 partners from all tiers of government, non-governmental
organisations and private companies in the biodiversity sector. A total of eight short-term jobs were created in
the programme. Groen Sebenza pioneers received occupation specific skills development and training, as well
as workplace experience at host institution level, as part of the programme’s goal to ensure success in obtaining
sustainable jobs in the sector, beyond the two-and-a-half years in the programme. A total of 52 pioneers were
appointed in permanent jobs with or beyond
project partners in the environment sector.
Two phases of mentor training workshops (12
workshops) were conducted in six provincial
cluster regions that focused on mentoring
techniques and methods and included all
the mentors in the programme, as part of the
support offered. The monitoring and evaluation
processes conducted, revealed many positive
stories which highlighted the positive
impact that the programme has had thus far,
which included institutional strengthening,
improved socio-economic status of youth and
families, poverty alleviation, improved skills
development levels and increased workplace
experience.
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South Africa’s
national
botanical
gardens
focused on
growing and
conserving
South Africa’s
indigenous
plants.
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Programme 6
render effective and efficient corporate
services
Through its Marketing and Communications interventions, SANBI optimally utilised various media
platforms to build and maintain a positive image of the Institute. This was achieved through
leveraging opportunities, brand associations, partnerships and support from media personalities, in
order to increase the awareness of SANBI, its services and its offerings.

During the 2013/14 financial year, the Institute doubled its efforts to promote its brand recognition by initiating a
range of interventions designed to significantly improve the image of the Institute. The Marketing and
Communication role from an external perspective is to leverage available exposure opportunities through
media, campaigns, events, exhibitions, activations and partnerships. Internally a number of corporate events
and communication platforms were used to motivate and inform members of staff, ensuring uniformity and
consistency of messaging in the pursuit of a common goal, namely, the positioning of the Institute.
The use of both print and electronic media has resulted in positive coverage for the Institute. The Institute proactively seeks such positive publicity by interacting with local and national media, providing them with biodiversity
related information which it believes to be newsworthy and which portrays the Institute in the best possible light.
During the year under review, the Institute set out to create synergistic relationships with various well-known and
successful brands in order to leverage expanded awareness of the Institute brand by association. One such linkage
that proved to be a success during this period was with Old Mutual, whose service level agreement was extended
beyond Kirstenbosch and now includes Walter Sisulu and Pretoria National Botanical Gardens in relation to the
concerts they sponsor throughout the year. The aim of this association was to increase the awareness of the brand
through publicity gained by way of exposure on the print, radio and television channels.
Other events utilised to generate awareness levels included events such as The Garden Live Show, Lotus and GM
Car Show, Valentines picnic functions, among many others. The Pretoria Garden has also attracted the South African
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Athletic Association for its Cross Country qualification runs. Hence, the ongoing requests from various organisations
to use the garden for a Fun Run/Walk. The gardens have also hosted a number of meetings for the Fern Society,
Cycad Society, Clivia Society and other Environmental Agencies. One of the highlights was the launch of Groen
Sebenza.
Hosting a delegation from China in partnership with the Department of Environmental Affairs, delegates of other
Ministers, meetings and conferences also proved a great success.
Sustainable communications channels is an integral and fundamental aspect of the organisation’s brand awareness
activities. This was achieved through the use of a number of traditional print advertising channels to communicate
effectively with interested external stakeholders and target markets, as well as consumers of our national botanical
gardens, as tourism products and from an internal perspective, members of staff. Such communication channels
enable the organisation to manage and control the consistency of the messaging.
In addition, the Institute successfully participated in a number of marketing platforms nationally and internationally,
including the Tourism Indaba and the Chelsea Flower Show in London, all geared towards enhancing and growing
SANBI’s presence in the world arena.

Key Performance Indicator: Turnover of the required skills
and expertise reduced through staff career progression and
development
During the year under review, the Human
Resources Division implemented the
approved Human Resources and
Transformation Strategy. One of the main
objectives of this strategy is to reduce the
turnover of the required skills through
career progression and development.
To achieve the above objective, a
career ladder for the horticulturists was
developed and approved. The career
ladder is aimed at recognising, attracting
and retaining horticulturists to fulfil
SANBI’s mandate. It also aims at having
clear progression and career paths for
horticulturists within the Institute.
A workforce plan was developed and approved and its main aim is to ensure that the Institute has the right people
with the right skills at the right place and time.
Competency profiles for critical roles were developed and adopted. The first phase focused on 28 critical roles.
The competency profiles will assist SANBI to select, develop and retain talented and skilled employees in critical
positions, who will ensure that the Institute achieves its mandate.
The Institute continues to implement a sustainable transformation action plan. During the period under review, all
the middle managers within the Institute attended team coaching sessions that were aimed at honing in on their
leadership skills.
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Finally, the Employment Equity Plan was developed and approved. This plan will ensure that SANBI eliminates
all employment equity barriers that have a negative impact on the attraction, development and retention of
employees, particularly from the designated groups.

Professional Development for 2013/14

29

16
work-integrated
learning (WIL)
students

22
employee
bursaries were
awarded

post-graduate
studentships:
3 Honours
18 Masters
8 PhD

38
interns

8
post-doctoral
fellowships

Employee Profile (as at 31 March 2014) – Permanent and Contract
Race/
Gender

Number
Percentage

AM

AF

CM

CF

IM

IF

WM

WF

Total

260

130

96

79

5

7

36

69

682

38.12%

19.06%

14.08%

11.58%

0.74%

1.03%

5.28%

10.11%

100%

New Appointments (01 April 2013 - 31 March 2014)
Race/
Gender

Number
Percentage

legend

AM

AF

CM

CF

IM

IF

WM

WF

Total

28

30

5

2

0

0

1

1

67

41.79%

44.78%

7.47%

2.98%

0%

0%

1.49%

1.49%

100%

Am = African Males	AF = African Females
CF = Coloured Females IM = Indian Males		
WM = White Males
WF = White Females

CM = Coloured Males
IF = Indian Females
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pre-determined objectives report 2013/14

Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

PROGRAMME 1:
MANAGE AND UNLOCK BENEFITS OF THE NETWORK OF NATIONAL BOTANICAL
GARDENS
1.1: By 2018, SANBI’s
National Botanical
Gardens, estates
and associated
infrastructure
are managed,
expanded,
developed and
maintained
through strategic
partnerships to
realise benefits to
SANBI, civil society
and other relevant
stakeholders
(Outcome 10, Suboutput 4.1).

Best-practice
maintenance and
development projects
across all SANBI campuses
implemented.

Five (5) maintenance
projects per Garden and
two (2) corporate SANBI
capital infrastructure
projects completed.

Achieved

Declaration and
proclamation of two (2)
new national botanical
gardens in the Eastern
Cape and Limpopo
Provinces with required
resources (capital
infrastructure, personnel
and operations) sourced.

Acquisition (SANBI) and
proclamation (by DEA)
of the Kwelera National
Botanical Garden in the
Eastern Cape Province.

Partially Achieved

Gardens expansion
and infrastructure
budgets allocated to
the establishment of
the Kwelera National
Botanical Garden in the
Eastern Cape.

Achieved

Required support and
approvals received for the
establishment of a new
national botanical garden
in the Limpopo Province.

Achieved

Gardens Conservation
Programme is developed
and resourced to provide
co-ordination and
leadership in promoting
plant conservation
amongst SANBI Gardens
through support of the
Millennium Seed Bank
Partnership with RBG,
Kew.

Deed of Sale for land
acquisition signed. DEA
Minister published an
Intention to Declare
notice for establishing the
Kwelera NR as the Kwelera
National Botanical
Garden. Awaiting formal
Declaration Notice to be
published by the DEA
Minister.

Gardens Conservation
Achieved
Programme implemented
and strengthened.
Integrated plant
conservation skills audit
conducted amongst
garden staff.

Achieved

Incentive income
generated by NBGs from
acquisition of targeted
collections for MSB
programme.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

1.2: By 2018,
strengthen
revenue generating
activities in
all National
Botanical Gardens
to contribute
to SANBI’s
sustainability (Suboutput 3.5).

Key
Performance
Indicators
Increased income and
visitor numbers received
through expanded
and/or more effective
garden-based revenue
generating activities.

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Two percent (2%)
annual increase in
visitor numbers.

Achieved

Four percent (4%)
annual increase in own
income.

Achieved

PROGRAMME 2:
PROVIDE SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT POLICY AND DECISION-MAKING
RELATING TO THE MANAGEMENT OF TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC BIODIVERSITY
AND THE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE
2.1: By 2018,
primary data
sets for key taxa
are available to
support decisionmaking, analysis
and assessment;
including an animal
checklist for 50,000
species, updates to
plant inventories,
databases for
animals to support
Red Listing,
population
monitoring data
to support NonDetriment Findings
and to monitor
climate change
impacts for at least
three indicator
taxa, (Outcome 10,
sub-output 4.3).

Number of updates to
inventories of species
and ecosystems (number
of species added;
classifications completed
and updated).

Number of animal data
sets compiled.

Animal inventory: 35,000
species included

Achieved

Plant inventory: updated
four times per annum

Achieved

Fine-scale spatial wetland
datasets incorporated
into wetland inventory.

Achieved

Animal data for Red
Listing: two additional
animal groups

Partly Achieved
The intention was to
complete data collection
for bats and sparid fish,
the bat data is complete
but data on sparid
fish are behind due to
shortage of capacity.
Steps have been put in
place to get additional
capacity to complete
these datasets.
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Number of herbarium
records and specimens
verified and prepared for
databasing.

10,000 records verified in
plant database.

Achieved

12,500 plant specimens
prepared for databasing

Achieved

Number of taxonbased climate change
monitoring databases
active and providing
trends information.

SABAP2 Programme
provides bird species
data on at least 65%
cumulative of South
African surface area,
monitoring underway for
one further taxon

Achieved

Number of databases
and inventories of
biodiversity in SANBI
conservation gardens.

One publication of Sappisponsored biodiversity
information for SANBI’s
NBGs, in collaboration
with a range of relevant
experts

Achieved

SANBI Gardens
Biodiversity database
updated with new
records and information
gathered from
biodiversity surveys
conducted in the
gardens.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

2.2: By 2018, SANBI is
providing scientific
evidence through
(i) an updated
comprehensive
state of
biodiversity report;
(ii) interim reports
based on research,
monitoring and
assessment
of species,
ecosystems,
invasive species,
the impacts
of genetically
modified
organisms and
impacts of and
adaptation to
climate change;
(iii) the publication
of at least 375
scientific papers
to support
assessments, policy
and decision–
making; and (iv)
representation on
key committees
influencing the
generation of
scientific evidence
within the
managed network.
(Outcome 10, suboutputs 2.4, 4.2
4.3).

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Number of SANBIrelevant research
papers published in
scientific literature
(threatened species and
ecosystems, invasive
alien species, climate
change impacts and
adaptation, sustainable
use, taxonomy, GMOs).

75 publications

Achieved

Number of ongoing
assessments of TOPS,
CITES and Alien and
Invasive Species (AIS)
species required to
support regulations
and implementation of
management plans.

Five NDFs completed

Achieved

At least five risk
assessments on invasives

Achieved

Number of reports on
status and trends in
biodiversity based on
research, monitoring
and assessment of
ecosystems and species
(NBA), ecosystem
services and ecological
infrastructure,
threatened species,
invasive species, the
impacts of genetically
modified organisms,
and the impacts of and
adaptation to climate
change.

Programme for
National Biodiversity
Assessment (NBA) 2018
conceptualised.

Achieved

Develop foundation
science to support
further listing of
threatened ecosystems.

Achieved

Workshop on biodiversity
based ecosystem
services.

Achieved

One updated plant
assessment. Red list
assessments: two animal
groups assessed. Red list
index initiated.

Achieved

Draft report on coral
bleaching as an indicator
of climate change.

Achieved

Appointment of coordinator for GMO
assessment work in
SANBI.

Achieved

Workshop to develop
implementation plan for
monitoring status and
trends of listed invasive
species.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Number of climate
change adaptation
frameworks developed.

Climate change
adaptation planning
frameworks for nine
terrestrial biomes
completed, response
measures for marine
biome identified.

Partially Achieved

Number of committees
where SANBI is
represented to influence
the direction and
resourcing of research
relevant to SANBI’s
mandate.

SANBI chairing the
Research Advisory
Panel for DEA-NRM;
represented on the
steering committees for
the DST-NRF centres on
invasions biology and
birds; leading the ACCESS
project.

Achieved

SANBI has completed a
component of the work
assigned to them, and
subsequently DEA has
appointed consultants to
undertake the remaining
component of the work.

PROGRAMME 3:
CO-ORDINATE AND PROVIDE ACCESS TO BIODIVERSITY INFORMATION AND
SCIENTIFIC KNOWLEDGE
3.1: By 2018,
seven modules
comprising of
online tools
and services
are available to
support research,
planning, policy
support land-use
decision-making
and monitoring.
The tools and
services will
be tailored to
the end-users’
needs and will
reduce the overall
management cost
to SANBI.

Number of modules
of the integrated
biodiversity information
portal developed and
available for use by
researchers, decisionmakers and policy
developers.

Herbarium information
system implemented.
Online plant and
animal checklist tool
implemented.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

3.2: By 2018,
500,000 primary
biodiversity data
sets, 20 maps, and
33 publications are
accessible as part
of a comprehensive
biodiversity
information
system.

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Number of primary
biodiversity data
accessible to support
research, planning,
decision-making, policy
advice and monitoring
at local, provincial and
national level.

10,000 records

Justified modification
approved by Minister:
50,000 available

Number of spatial plans
and maps accessible
to support research,
planning, decisionmaking, policy advice
and monitoring at local,
provincial and national
level.

Five plans and maps

Achieved

Number of volumes
(issues) of SANBI
publications produced
and available on http://
biodiversityadvisor.org.
za to grow the body of
biodiversity knowledge.

Five volumes of Strelitzia
and 1 volume (2 issues)
of Bothalia journals
published.

Achieved

Number of library
collections are increased
by 300 additional
items a year for use by
researchers, planners and
policy makers.

300 additional items
added to the library
collection for use by
researchers, planners and
policy makers.

Achieved

The Biodiversity Heritage
Library South African
Chapter MoU signed.

Achieved

Number of learning
exchange events
hosted for SANBI and
partner organisations on
Biodiversity Information
Management to foster
cross-learning and skills
exchange.

The Biodiversity
Information
Management forum
held, African GBIF group
meeting, four training
events on the use of
biodiversity information
in decision-making and
research.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

PROGRAMME 4:
PROVIDE SCIENCE-BASED POLICY TOOLS AND ADVICE FOR THE EFFECTIVE
MANAGEMENT OF BIODIVERSITY ASSETS AND ECOLOGICAL INFRASTRUCTURE IN
SUPPORT OF SOUTH AFRICA’S DEVELOPMENT
4.1: By 2018,
biodiversity science
is translated into
tools that are
relevant for policy
and decisionmaking in support
of South Africa’s
development
agenda and socioeconomic priorities
as well as regional
and international
obligations and
opportunities.
(Outcome 10, suboutput 4.1,4.3,4.4).

Number of science-based
resources capturing/
communicating the
value of biodiversity
assets and ecological
infrastructure for the
national development
agenda.

Branding biodiversity
toolkit developed.

Achieved

Set of eight knowledge
resources for
demonstrating the value
of biodiversity developed
and disseminated.

Achieved

Number of sciencebased policy tools and
pilot projects developed
and implemented in
production sectors and
resource management.

Framework for
investments in
ecosystem services
developed.

Achieved

Applications submitted
for an additional 10,000
ha protected under
stewardship agreements.

Achieved

Grazing guidelines for
grasslands biodiversity
completed.

Achieved

Guidelines for grassland
management in the
forestry sector finalised.

Achieved

Final Gauteng
Biodiversity Toolkit
produced.

Achieved

Users’ version of mining
and biodiversity
guideline produced and
training provided.

Achieved

Wetland offsite
mitigation guidelines
published.

Achieved

Wetland offsite
mitigation banking
institutional framework
developed and piloted
with mining companies
and regulators.

Achieved

Celebrating and
Championing Biodiversity

055

Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

112 wetlands under
rehabilitation.

Achieved

Provision of 1,460 EPWP
job opportunities for
214,352 person days,
including 22,505 training
days.

Justified modification
approved by Minister for
5,982 training days

Publication on lessons
and experiences from
partnerships with the
private sector produced.

Achieved

Contribute to the
development or
refinement of at least
one science-based tool
to support offshore
protection (such as
proposed spatial
management measures,
updated priority area
maps or contributions
to sector plans and
guidelines) as required.

Achieved

Number of provinces,
district- and local
municipalities receiving
science-based
policy advice for the
development and
implementation of
biodiversity plans.

Support provided
to provinces for
development and
revision of spatial
biodiversity plans as
required.

Achieved

Review 100% of
bioregional plans and
BMP-Es submitted to
SANBI for review.

Achieved

Number of functional
mechanisms to enable
cross-organisational
science-based policy
sharing of lessons
on management of
biodiversity assets and
ecological infrastructure.

At least two national
events convened: 10th
National Biodiversity
Planning Forum,
Grasslands Partners
Forum.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

4.2: By 2018, policy
advice is provided
for DEA and other
organs of state, to
ensure that best
available science
informs national
and international
policy processes.
(Outcome 10,
sub-out-put
4.1,4.2,4.3,4.4).

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

At least three
communities of practice
convened e.g. Freshwater
ecosystem network,
CAPE Implementation
Committee, Biodiversity
Stewardship Technical
Working Group.
Four training sessions
held for provincial and
municipal officials
and/or other relevant
stakeholders for uptake of
science-based tools.
Number of national policy Support provided for
processes where support publishing and reviewing
lists of threatened
for development and/
ecosystems as requested.
or revision is provided to
DEA.
Support provided for the
finalisation of the national
biodiversity offsets
framework as requested.
Support provided to DEA
on protected areas and
biodiversity stewardship
as requested e.g. business
case for biodiversity
stewardship and case for
protected areas.
Support provided to
DEA on other policies,
strategies, guidelines,
norms and standards as
requested e.g., NBSAP,
NBF, BMP-S, LTAS,
national strategy for plant
conservation.
Two annual meetings of
the Scientific Authority
convened and one annual
report submitted to the
Minister
Advice provided to
DEA NRM Programmes
for planning, research
and M&E e.g. Research
Advisory Panel, EDRR,
advice on wetland
rehabilitation and wise
use

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)
Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Minister approved
modification of target to
no meetings in 2013/14

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Number of national policy
processes where support
for development and/
or revision is provided
to other national
departments.

Number of international
policy processes where
support for development
and/or revision is
provided.

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

At least two Climate
Change Adaptation pilot
projects funded and
underway

Partially Achieved

Biodiversity inputs
provided to water sector
policy as required (e.g.
water pricing strategy,
National Water Resources
Strategy).

Achieved

Biodiversity input
provided into agriculture
sector policy e.g. tools
for implementation
of Conservation of
Agricultural Resources
Act, Act no 43 of 1983
(CARA) as required.

Achieved

Support provided on
multi-lateral reporting
requirements as
requested e.g. Fifth
Country Report to the
CBD, MDG Report, 3rd
National Communication
to the UNFCCC.

Achieved

100% of requests
supported; and support
for DEA negotiations at
UNFCCC SBSTA 19/MOP9
and IPBES as required.

Achieved

100% of requests for data
on CITES taxa (budget
permitting).

Achieved

Two Climate Change
Adaptation pilot concepts
were submitted and
approved. Funding was
received for full project
proposal development
for the two projects
which are both underway
and making excellent
progress.

50% of IUCN/SSC
Achieved
meetings attended where
supported invitations are
issued.
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

IPCC climate change
adaptation chapter
second order draft
completed, SANBI staff sit
on international science/
policy committees
including IPBES and
Future Earth.

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)
Achieved

PROGRAMME 5:
HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT (HCD): DRIVE HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT,
EDUCATION AND AWARENESS IN RESPONSE TO SANBI’S MANDATE
5.1: By 2018, South
Africa has a
socially equitable
and suitably
skilled workforce
of biodiversity
leaders,
professionals
and technicians
to optimally
implement the
sector’s dynamic,
expanding and
increasingly
complex mandate.
(Outcome 10,
Cross-cutting X.2),

Co-ordinate and manage
the implementation
of biodiversity skills
development and job
creation programme.

800 unemployed youth
skilled and employed in
the biodiversity sector.

Achieved

Teachers and student
teachers are being
supported to provide
relevant, quality
biodiversity education to
school learners.

Teacher Developers
Network consists of at
least 12 partners. At
least two biodiversity
conservation exemplars
have been produced.

Achieved

Provide resources and
initiatives to attract
school-going youth to
the biodiversity sector
(Greening the Youth).

One co-ordinated
programme on
biodiversity and careers
for school-going youth
has been initiated.

Achieved

Drive innovation within
and collaboration
between universities
towards producing
stronger skills for
biodiversity (Higher
Education Innovation).

At least one suitable
mechanism is in place
to drive innovation
within and collaboration
between South African
universities towards
producing stronger
biodiversity related
concepts and skills.

Achieved
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Sector organisations
share best practice
to effectively identify
and address their skills
needs, train and retain
talented professionals in
the sector (Institutional
Strengthening).

10 sector organisations
share best practice to
identify and address
their skills needs, train
and retain talented
professionals.

Not Achieved

Provide a platform and
activities for interaction
and coordination to
enable the sector to
speak and act with ‘one
voice’ on HCD matters.
(National Co-ordination
and Advocacy)

One national platform
established or
strengthened and used
to address cross-sectoral
HCD concerns.

Achieved

5.2: By 2018,
national botanical
gardens used
for biodiversity
education, training,
awareness and
recreation to
achieve sustainable
management
practices amongst
diverse users.
‘(Outcome Crosscutting X.2)

Users and beneficiaries of
garden and school-based
programmes have been
diversified and increased.

42,000 (12 X Youth
Groups, 3,000 children
from Places/Homes of
Safety, 100 new schools).

Achieved

Interpretive material
developed for promoting
biodiversity issues and
SANBI’s programmes in
all gardens.

Interpretive material
developed and made
available through garden
programmes.

Achieved

5.3: By
2018,awareness on
biodiversity raised
through engaging
civil society by
implementing
various initiatives/
activities (ISPOT,
CREW, Virtual
Museums,
greening,
biodiversity
monitoring)
‘(Outcome Crosscutting X.2)

Case studies showcasing
SANBI’s engagement
with civil society to
conserve biodiversity
produced.

One Case study
produced.

Achieved

Programme focus and
lead organisation was
changed.
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

PROGRAMME 6:
RENDER EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT CORPORATE SERVICES FOR SANBI
6.1: By 2018, all
indicators relating
to the integrated
Human Resources
and Transformation
Strategy have been
achieved.

Turnover of required
skills and expertise
reduced through staff
career progression and
development.

Career ladder for
Horticulturists approved.

Achieved

Workforce plan approved
and implemented.

Achieved

Succession plan
developed and
approved.

Achieved

Competency framework
for core skills developed
and adopted.

Achieved

Sustainable
Transformation Plan
implemented and
progress monitored
against the indicators for
2013/14.

Achieved

Approved Employment
Equity Plan with clear
measureable actions
implemented and
monitored against the
barriers identified for
2013/14.

Achieved

MTEF and Projects
Financial budgets
(operational and capex
expenditure) aligned to
the input activities.

Annual budget in place

Achieved

AFS produced to comply
with PFMA and GRAP
requirements.

Unqualified AFS
produced according to
GRAP standards.

Achieved

An effective system of
internal control, Financial
and Procurement policies
are adhered to across the
institution.

Financial and
procurement policies
approved and
implemented.

Achieved

Productive and enabling
working environment
is created through the
implementation of
Human Resources and
Transformation Strategy.

6.2: By 2018, provide
compliant financial
management
systems and
policies that
enable effective
and sustainable
management of
resources.
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Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Accurate monthly,
quarterly and annual
financial reports are
produced and approved
by the Board, its Subcommittees and EXCO.

Accurate and informative
monthly and quarterly
reports produced
timeously.

Achieved

SANBI effectively
manages risk through an
annual risk assessment
and three-year cycle
assessment.

Three-year
comprehensive
enterprise wide risk
assessment done and
approved.

Achieved

SANBI complies with all
relevant Acts and SANBI/
DEA protocol through
implementation of the
Compliance Framework.

Reporting monitored
according to specified
time frames.

Achieved

6.4: By 2018,
implemented
effective
communication
technology
services through
a Master Systems
Information
Technology Plan

Number of Master
Systems Information
Technology Plan
(MSITP) projects
implemented across the
organisation to ensure
IT Services supports the
organisational objectives.

Implementation of two
of the Master Systems
Information Technology
Plan projects.

Achieved

Number of IT governance
projects implemented
across the organisation
to raise IT governance
practices and standards.

Implementation of phase
1 of the IT Governance
projects implemented
across the organisation.

Achieved

6.5: By 2018, ensure
that SANBI’s
marketing and
communications
services reach
and inform 100%
of SANBI’s staff,
that the national
botanical gardens
are promoted to
target audiences
and that SANBI’s
SANBI’s profile
and brand grows
externally.

Number of appropriately
branded and updated
materials are made
available and SANBI
brand is recognised
externally

SANBI material correctly
branded and available to
stakeholders.

Achieved

Strategic
Objective (s)

6.3: By 2018, render an
effective corporate
service for SANBI.
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Strategic
Objective (s)

Actual
(Achieved,
Partially
Achieved, Not
Achieved and
Modification)

Key
Performance
Indicators

Estimated
Performance
(Target)

Number of internal,
external and corporate
communication
materials, events and
tactics are initiated that
ensure internal and
external stakeholders
are well-informed on key
issues and events.

Internal communications
strategy implemented.

Achieved

Increased media
coverage received.

Achieved

Up-to-date and effective
website.

Achieved

Annual Report
developed and tabled in
Parliament

Achieved

Number of marketing
activities and events
initiated and marketing
materials developed for
gardens.

Gardens implement
initiatives and activities
to attract increased
number of visitors

Achieved

SUMMARY:
Total number of targets

99

Number of targets achieved

92

Number of targets partially achieved

3

Number of targets not achieved

1

Justification modification

3
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statement of responsibility of the board
The South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) was established in terms of the National Environmental
Management: Biodiversity Act of 2004 (No. 10 of 2004) and is subject to the provisions of the Public Financial
Management Act of 1999 (PFMA).
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP), including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the
ASB..
The PFMA requires the Accounting Authority to ensure that the SANBI keeps full and proper records of its financial
affairs. The Financial Statements should fairly present the state of affairs of the SANBI, its financial results, its
performance against predetermined objectives and its financial position at the end of year in terms of the effective
South African Standards of GRAP.
The Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. The External Auditors are responsible for
independently auditing and reporting on the Financial Statements.
These Financial Statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates, and have been prepared on the going-concern basis.
The Board of Directors has reviewed SANBI’s cash flow forecast for the year ending 31 March 2015 and considered
the risks and challenges for the future. In light of this review and the current financial position, the Board is satisfied
that the SANBI has adequate resources or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence in
short-term.
To enable the Board of Directors to meet the above-mentioned responsibilities, it sets standards and implements
systems of internal control. The controls are designed to provide cost-effective assurance that assets are safeguarded,
and that liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed.
Policies, procedures, structures and approval frameworks provide direction, accountability and division of
responsibilities, and contain self-monitoring mechanisms. The controls throughout SANBI focusses on the critical
risk areas identified by operational risk management and confirmed by Executive Management. Both Management
and the Internal Auditors closely monitor the controls and actions taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.
Based on the information and explanations given by Management and the Internal Auditors and discussions held
with the Auditor-General of South Africa on the result of their audits, the Board of Directors is of the opinion that
the internal accounting controls are adequate to ensure that the financial records may be relied on for preparing
the Financial Statements, and accountability for the assets and liabilities is maintained.
Nothing significant has come to the attention of the Board of Directors to indicate that any material breakdown has
occurred in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems during the year under review.
In the opinion of the Directors, based on the information available to date, the Financial Statements fairly present
the financial position of SANBI as at 31 March 2014 and the results of its operations and cash flow information for
the year.
The going-concern basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation
of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of
business.
The Financial Statements of SANBI for the year ended 31 March 2014, which have been prepared on the goingconcern basis, have been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

..........................................................

..........................................................

Mrs ME Magomola
Acting Chairperson of the SANBI Board

Dr. Tanya Abrahamse
Chief Executive Officer: SANBI
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report of the accounting authority
The Accounting Authority of SANBI hereby presents its report for the year ended 31 March 2014 to the Executive
Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

SERVICES RENDERED BY SANBI
The narrative section of this Annual Report gives a more in-depth discussion of key performance indicators and
overview of programme performance. Key projects delivered during the period under review as well as services
offered by the Institute are also discussed in the narrative section of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ARRAGEMENTS
Information pertaining to corporate governance is explained in the Corporate Review section of this Annual Report.

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
In line with the requirements of National Treasury, performance targets are set on an annual basis and performance
against these targets is reported to National Treasury through the Department of Environment Affairs on a quarterly
basis after approval by the Board. The Department of Environment Affairs assesses the quarterly performance
reports and gives SANBI feedback, which has been positive during the year under review.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT’S INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
In the current financial year, SANBI did not enter into any material contracts wherein its Executive Management had
interest.

PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SANBI has adopted the South African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The financial position and results of the operations and programme activities of SANBI are cited with notes in the
financial statements which form an integral part of this annual report. No material fact or circumstance has occurred
between the accounting date and date of this report.

Revenue
Total revenue is cited in the statement of financial performance under two main categories, namely non-exchange
revenue and exchange revenue. Overall revenue increased by 33% year-on-year to R531 million from R399 million.
Non-exchange revenue comprise of government grants, other grants, sponsorships and donations. This category
of revenue accounts for 89% of total revenue. Government grant increased by 28% year-on-year, detailed in note
14. Other grants, donations and sponsorships comprise 39% of Total Revenue. This income stream is up by 49% to
R206 million from R139 million last year.
Exchange revenue consists of the Institute’s revenue generation activities. The main contributor is admission fees
through the gates. Overall, there is a year-on-year increase of 13%.

Expenses
Overall expenditure has grown by 21% year-on-year. The MTEF and projects personnel expenses combined
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report of the accounting authority (continued)
constitute 46% (2013: 51%) of the total expenditure. The MTEF personnel expenses and the Projects Personnel
Expenses increased annually by 17% and 63% respectively. The significant increase is mainly attributed to the Groen
Sebenza Pioneers. Note 16 in the Annual Financial Statements expound more on these expenses.
Note 17 in the statement of financial performance details the nature of expenses included in Operating Expenses.
This category of expenses is the second highest cost driver after Personnel Expenses contributing 19% (2013: 19%)
to total expenses. The 25% year-on-year increase is indicative of more operational activities being implemented
compared to the previous comparative year when austerity measures were still in operation due to a cash deficit.
Also in Note 17 is a breakdown of project operating expenses which also saw a 57% year-on-year spike due to the
same reasons. The concomitant project implementers’ costs, which make up 14% (2013: 11%) were expensed to
finalise some projects started in prior years and to continue with current projects.
The surplus of R39.8 million for the financial year is attributed to a valuation and decrease of a defined benefit
liability as explained in note 12.

Current Assets
Current assets at R201 million exceed current liabilities of R167 million by a good margin which reflects a healthy
liquidity position of the Institute. The liquidity position is in an acceptable current ratio band of 1; 1.2: 1 and 1.28:1
of the previous financial year. The cash and cash equivalent of current assets increased by 43% to R197 million from
R138 million. This most liquid of all components of current assets comprise 98% of total current assets pointing to a
flexible liquidity position that enables the organisation to meet its current liabilities as they fall due.
Current assets vs current liabilities
250,000,000
200,000,000
150,000,000
100,000,000
50,000,000
31 March 2014

Current assets

31 March 2013

Current liabilities

Non-Current Assets
The Non-Current Assets of the Institute are managed and protected by management with due diligence. Appropriate
insurance cover is in place and any loss or damage to property is systematically investigated and remedial measures
are promptly implemented. The oversight of these measures is under the auspices of the Audit Committee, and the
Governance and Strategy Committee. During the year under review, these assets have grown by 5.4%.
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report of the accounting authority (continued)
The following graph depicts the proportion of these assets in the current financial year.
Non current assets as at 31 March 2014
70%
60%

59%

50%
40%

33%

30%
20%
7%

10%

2%

0%
Property, plant and
equipment

Investment property

Intangible assets

Heritage assets

Current Liabilities
The current liabilities have increased by 49% from the previous financial year due to an increase in payables and
unspent committed funds. The proportionate comparison of current liabilities on a year-to-year basis is graphically
depicted below.

Current liabilities
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

63%

54%
43%
35%

3%
2%
31 March 2014

31 March 2013

Unspent committed project funds
Payables from exchange transactions

Provisions

Non-Current Liabilities
The financial position of the Institute remains healthy with total assets exceeding total liabilities by a large margin.
Non-current liabilities have decreased by 50% from the previous financial year due to the decrease in the defined
benefit liability as a result of the annual actuarial valuation. The Board will do its utmost to maintain this positive
solvency position.

ANNUAL REPORT
2013/14

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2014

068

report of the accounting authority (continued)
The spread of non-current liabilities is depicted in the following graph.
Non-current liabilities
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60%
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44%
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Defined benefit liability

31 March 2014

Post-retirement
medical benefit

31 March 2013

Under Spending on Capital Expenditure
There is under-spending of R15 million reported on the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.
This under spending is as a result of timing differences between the transfer of funds from National Treasury and
the actual spending which are not properly aligned. The amount spent during the 2013/14 financial year is in
line with the approved project business plans which are monitored by the Department of Environmental Affairs.
It is expected that there may be over spending and under spending over the course of the project life which
spans more than one financial year. These variances should be interpreted within the above context not merely as
under/over spending, but as a timing issue. Overall, the project progress is on track and this amount will be spent
according to the spending plans and schedule in place.

ADDRESS
Registered Office: South African National Biodiversity Institute
2 Cussonia Avenue
Brummeria
Pretoria			
0002
Private Bag X101
Pretoria
0001

AUDITORS
SANBI as a schedule 3A Public Entity, is audited by the Auditor-General South Africa.
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corporate governance statement
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The South African National Biodiversity Institute subscribes to and is committed to complying with the principles
and standards of integrity and accountability expressed in the Public Finance Management Act, relevant National
Treasury Regulations and where applicable and practical the King III Report on Corporate Governance. The Board
also furnishes timeous and meaningful information on all of its activities to all relevant stakeholders in line with the
Promotion of Access to Information Act.

Appointment and Composition of the Board
Members of the SANBI Board are appointed by the Executive Authority in terms of Section 15 of the National
Environmental Management Biodiversity Act, 10 of 2004. Board members are appointed for a term of three years.
The Board consists of not fewer than seven and not more than nine members who are appointed by the Minister of
Water and Environmental Affairs. The Board further includes the Director-General, or an official of the Department
Environmental Affairs designated by the Director-General, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Institute.
The Board meets quarterly and functions in line with approved Board Manual. As required by Public Finance
Management Act the Board is the Accounting Authority of the Institution. Members of the Executive Management
Committee attend Board meetings by invitation.
The SANBI Board member for the period 1 April 2013 – 31 March 2014
Mrs M.E Magomola (Acting Chairperson)
Mr A.J Frost
Mr F. Mketeni
Mr G. Mashamba
Dr S.T Cornelius
Dr J. Matjila
Mrs N.N Mnqeta
Mrs B.D Ngidi
Mr S. Gounden (from 1 January 2014)
Dr T. Abrahamse (Chie f Executive Officer)
The roles of the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer do not vest in the same person and the Chairperson is a
non-executive member of the organisation. The Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer ensure that the mandate
of the Institute is achieved.
The Board shall as soon as practically possible after the end of each financial year, submit:
§§

An Annual Report for the Minister’s approval and tabling in Parliament, and

§§

Any other matter that the Minister may request the Board to deal with.

The operations of the Institution are guided by the Corporate Strategic Plan, the Annual Performance Plan, policies,
et al.
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corporate governance statement (continued)
Executive Management
The Executive Management Committee comprises the Chief Executive Officer (as Chairperson), Head of the
Research and Knowledge Management Branch, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Corporate Officer, as well as all
Chief Directors. This Committee meets monthly and additionally meets on ad-hoc basis as deemed necessary.
The role of the Committee is to ensure the co-ordinated and efficient an execution of all functions delegated
to it by the Board.

Audit Committee
As required by Treasury Regulation 27 of the PFMA, the Board appointed an Audit Committee to assist with the
discharge of its duties.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been approved by the Board. The committee meets four
times per year and one extra-ordinary meeting is held during the end of May annually, to consider the draft Annual
Financial Statements.
Members of the Audit Committee for the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014
Dr. S.T Cornelius

Chairperson

Mr. G. Mashamba

Board Member

Mr. A.J Frost

Board Member

Mr. G.J Dladla

Independent member

Mr. V.K Naicker

Independent Member

Dr. T. Abrahamse (Chief Executive Officer)

Ex officio

Ms. E. Makau (DEA: Chief Financial Officer)

Ex officio

Mr. T. Bouwer (Chief Financial Officer)

In attendance
(resigned from SANBI in October 2013)

Mr. A. Smith (Acting Chief Financial Officer)

In attendance)(acting CFO from SANBI from October
2013 to 31 March 2014)

Board Sub-Committees
For operational effectiveness, the Board has instituted Sub-Committees for key functional areas of the Institute.
These Sub-Committees comprise two or three members of the Board and independent members who are experts
in their functional areas. Members are appointed for a term concurrent with that of the Board. All Sub-Committees
of the Board are chaired by members of the Board. Any Board member may request or be requested to attend a
Board Sub-Committee meeting.
The role of the Sub-Committees is to advise the Board on:
1.

The mandate given to the Institute by Parliament.

2.

The strategic direction of the Institute.

3.

The implementation of the Corporate Strategic Plan.
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corporate governance statement (continued)
4.

The performance of key performance areas, budgeting requirements and the initiation of new activities or
the termination of existing activities.
Committee

Governance and Strategy Committee

1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014
Mr A.J Frost (Chairperson)
Mrs N.N Mnqeta
Mrs B.D Ngidi
Dr T. Abrahamse (CEO) (ex officio)
Mr M. Khoahli (in attendance)

Remuneration and Human Resources
Committee

Dr J.M Matjila (Chairperson)
Mr G Mashamba
Mr A.J Frost
Dr T. Abrahamse (CEO) (ex officio)
Mr M. Netshiombo (in attendance)

Research, Development and Innovation
Committee

Mrs D. Ngidi (Chairperson)
Mr F. Mketeni
Prof. C. Chimimba (Independent member)
Dr S. Liphadzi (Independent member)
Dr T. Abrahamse (ex officio)
Ms C. Mbizvo (in attendance)

Management Structure of the Institute
The management structure of the Institute is geographically decentralised because of the wide geographical
spread and activities of its various units. The head of each unit is called a ‘Head of Cost Centre’.
Implicit in the concept is a substantial measure of delegation of both responsibility and authority, which in turn
requires effective control and evaluation systems. Both financial and management responsibilities are delegated and
clearly communicated to such Head of Cost Centre. These officers are actively involved in the budget development
cycle and must assume responsibility for the disciplined management of their cost centre budgets within clearly
defined policies, procedures and Delegations of Authority approved by the Board.

GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
Framework
Corporate Governance is a system by which organisations are directed and controlled. Basically it is a set of checks
and balances that gives assurance to stakeholders that the Institute is run according to sound corporate governance
standards and principles. These standards and principles are based on international best practice.
The Institute’s Board, it’s Sub-committees and the Executive Committee ensures that the Institute complies with
these principles.
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corporate governance statement (continued)
Audit
External auditing is conducted by the office of the Auditor-General (AG). The Board, through the Audit Committee
engages the AG and exercises oversight on financial reporting and internal control systems.

Risk Management
A culture of risk management is inculcated in the Institute. Management is continuously developing and enhancing
its risk and control procedures to improve the mechanisms for identifying and monitoring risks. An in-depth
Enterprise Wide Risk assessment, facilitated by Internal Audit, was conducted during the year under review. The
results of the assessment was reviewed by the Audit Committee and subsequently approved by the SANBI Board.
The identified risks were assigned to risk owners who report progress on remedial and mitigation measures on a
quarterly basis.
The Risk Management and Fraud Prevention Committee (RMFPCom) which is under the auspices of the Audit
Committee and chaired by the Chief Corporate Officer, adjudicates on alleged fraud cases reported through the
whistle blowing system or other approved means.
SANBI subscribes to the South African Corporate Fraud Management Institute (SACFMI) which administers all whistle
blowing cases via the hotline or through direct correspondence. Reported cases are assessed by the RMFPCom and
may be referred for further investigation (e.g. forensic) where necessary. Criminal and/or disciplinary measures are
taken to ensure recovery of lost or stolen assets.
Reported losses and damages are recorded into a Loss Control Register and dealt with by the Liability Assessment
Committee. Firm action is always taken for losses and damages ascribed to negligent accidents, recklessness and
carelessness.
The insurance policies are in place to provide sufficient cover to protect the Institute’s insurable assets, and possible
legal obligations.

Internal Control Systems
Financial and operational systems of internal control are adhered to as required by applicable Regulations and Laws.
These controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are concluded in accordance with
management authority, assets are protected and the financial transactions are properly recorded.
Cost centres and projects compliance officers located at all levels of the organisation submit quarterly reports on
the status of compliance in line with recommendations made by the internal auditors.

Internal audit
SANBI has an internal audit function which is outsourced to an external service provider for a period of three years.
The institution has an internal audit function that is outsourced to a private audit firm for a period of three years and
is appointed by the Audit Committee who also approves is annual internal audit plan. The Internal Audit report to
the Audit Committee according to the approved internal audit charter.

Employment Equity
The Employment Equity programme in SANBI is monitored by the Employment Equity and Training Committee.
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The primary aim of the Employment Equity Policy is to achieve the following:
§§

Compliance with the provisions and legal requirements of the Employment Equity Act;

§§

Promotion of diversity;

§§

Accommodation of special needs people through modification and adjustment of the physical working
environments ;

§§

Attraction, development and retention of staff members with emphasis on those from designated groups.

SANBI strives to achieve its Employment Equity Vision through the following initiatives:
Implementation of all the critical success factors for effective Employment Equity transformation:
§§

Provision of all necessary personnel and financial resources;

§§

Utilising the SANBI structures to consult and communicate with all employees, either directly or indirectly. ,

§§

Putting in place the enabling systems and working environment geared towards the maximisation of
advancement of persons from designated groups.

Integrated Employee Health and Wellness Programme
SANBI utilises a holistic integrated Employee Health and Wellness Model with the following four pillars:
§§

HIV/AIDS and Tuberculosis Management (TB)
In response to HIV and AIDS, SANBI is guided by the National Strategic Plan of 2007–2010 on HIV & AIDS
and Sexually Transmitted Infections, which focuses on prevention, treatment, care and support, research,
monitoring and surveillance, human rights and access to justice. SANBI recognises the problem to public
health posed by TB and ensures that employees who are infected by TB have access to an appropriate
treatment and support system.

§§

Health and Productivity Management
Health and Productivity Management in the workplace is defined as: “the integrated management of health
risks for chronic illnesses, occupational injuries and diseases, mental diseases and disability in order to reduce
employees’ total health-related costs, including direct medical expenditure, unnecessary absence from work
and loss of performance at work.” SANBI promotes and maintains the general health of employees through
prevention, intervention, awareness, education, risk assessment and support in order to mitigate the impact
and effect of communicable and non-communicable diseases and injuries on the productivity and quality
of life of individual employees.

§§

Safety, Health, Environment, Risk, Quality Management (SHERQ)
SANBI implements SHERQ in accordance with the standards identified by the International Organisation
of Standards, OHSAS 18001 for OHS, ISO 14001 for Environmental Management, and ISO 9001 for Quality
Management.
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§§

Wellness Management

SANBI addresses individual and organisational wellness in a proactive manner. This approach is a radical departure
from the Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), which was limited in scope and practice, and was reactive. Individual
Wellness is the promotion of the physical, social, emotional, spiritual and intellectual wellness of individuals. This is
attained by creating an organisational climate and culture that is conducive to wellness and the comprehensive
identification of psycho-social health risks. Wellness management is a priority as the health, safety and wellness of
employees directly impact on the entire Institute and its ability to deliver effectively and efficiently on its mandate.
§§

Employee Participation
Employee participation is encouraged by putting best practices in place to foster good and co-operative
relationships and employee participation at all levels of the organisation. Union representation, staff
meetings, focus groups and task teams are all instruments used to facilitate employee participation.

§§

Code of Conduct
A Code of Conduct that applies to all staff members has been implemented. The Code of Conduct facilitates
sound business ethics in the Institute and plays an important role in defining the organisational culture and
in governing effective discipline within the Institute. It is a standard annexure to all letters of appointment to
ensure that new staff members are informed.
A Code of Conduct for Board members has also been developed, approved and implemented and all Board
members are subject to the Code.

§§

Delegation of Authority
The Board approved the Delegations of Authority Framework for effective operational purposes.

§§

Supply Chain Management
During this financial year, the Institute updated and aligned all procurement systems, policies, processes
and practices with PFMA and Treasury prescripts on Supply Chain Management. SANBI complied with the
reporting requirements of the Department of Environmental Affairs and National Treasury by regularly
reporting on the supply chain management system, processes and procedures.

§§

Conflict of Interest
As part of the appointment protocol, all new staff members of the Institute are obliged to complete a
“Declaration on Conflict of Interest” when they are appointed and are required to update these records
annually. Management sign this declaration in all meetings. The Bid Committee members also sign the
declaration in every procurement adjudication meeting.
All Board members are, in keeping with the PFMA, required to complete a “Disclosure of Interest” declaration,
annually and at every Board and Sub-Committee meetings.
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LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK
The Institute, being a Section 3A Public Entity, has to comply with a number of laws, including:
§§

National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 of 2004)

§§

Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995)

§§

Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997 (Act No. 75 of 1997)

§§

Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act No. 55 of 1998)

§§

Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act No. 97 of 1998)

§§

Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 9 of 1999)
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report of the audit committee
1.

Report of the Audit Committee

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

2.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance

The Audit Committee consisted of five members listed hereunder and held meetings for the financial year under
review:
Membership of the Audit Committee from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 comprised:
Number of
Meetings

Meetings
Attended

Dr ST Cornelius (Board Member and Chairperson)

5

4

Mr G Mashamba (Board Member)

5

5

Mr AJ Frost (Board Member)

5

4

Mr GJ Dladla (Independent Member)

5

5

Mr V Naicker (Independent Member)

5

4

Dr T Abrahamse (CEO and Board Member

5

5

Mr T Bouwer ( (Ex Officio : SANBI CFO)
(Resigned from SANBI in October 2013)

5

3

Mr A Smith (Ex Officio : SANBI Acting CFO)
(Acting from SANBI from October 2013 to March 2014)

5

5

Name of Member

3.

Audit Committee responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) of the PFMA
and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit Committee has adopted appropriate formal Terms of Reference as its Audit
Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this Charter and has discharged all its responsibilities
as contained therein.

4.

The effectiveness of internal control

The system of internal controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and
that liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. The Audit Committee has evaluated all significant and
material issues raised in reports issued by the Internal Audit Function, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial
Statements, and the management letter of the Auditor-General, and is satisfied that they have all been, or are
being, appropriately resolved. In line with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate Governance, the Internal
Audit Function and other assurance providers provided the Audit Committee and management with assurance
that the internal controls are appropriate and effective for those areas included in the annual operational plan.
This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. The Audit Committee has evaluated the work performed
by the Internal Audit Function and other assurance service providers. Based upon this evaluation, the Committee
reports that the systems of internal control for the period under review were effective and efficient.
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The work performed by the outsourced internal audit was based on an approved risk-based internal audit plan for
the year under review. The internal audit function conducted the following reviews during the 2013/14 financial
year:
§§

Enhancement of Scientific Research;

§§

Human Resource Provisioning and Capital Management Implementation;

§§

Information Technology – General Controls Review;

§§

Evaluation of mid-year (6 monthly) GRAP compliant financial statements;

§§

Follow-up of previously reported matters from the internal and external auditors; and

§§

Review of the completeness of revenue.

The Committee is satisfied with the evaluation of the internal control environment as communicated to us, and
having consideration for the entity’s action plans to remedy the weaknesses reported.

5.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued
by the Accounting Officer and entity during the year under review.
The Audit Committee has:
a.

Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report with
the Office of the Auditor-General and the Accounting Officer;

b.

Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response thereto;

c.

Reviewed accounting policies; and

d.

Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

Whilst the Audit Committee accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements, it is of
the opinion that the material underspending on capital expenditure is as a result of projects spanning more than
one financial year. Certain expenditure is planned and due to be incurred in subsequent periods. An explanation
to this effect can be found when the audited annual financial statements are read together with the report of the
Auditor-General.

....................................................
Dr. Steven Thomas Cornelius
Chairperson: Audit Committee
Date: 31 July 2014
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction
1.

I have audited the financial statements of the South African National Biodiversity Institute set out on pages
81 to 138, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the
statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Accounting Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
2.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of
GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999)
(PFMA), and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility
3.

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my
audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general
notice issued in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

5.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit
opinion.

Opinion
6.

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
South African National Biodiversity Institute as at 31 March 2014, and its financial performance, cash flows
and comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended in accordance with SA Standards of
GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.
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SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE (continued)
Emphasis of matter
7.

I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Material under spending of the budget
8.

As disclosed in the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts and note 22 to the financial
statements, the entity has materiality underspent the on capital expenditure by R15,400,263.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
9.

In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings on
the reported performance information against predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented
in the annual performance report, non-compliance with legislation as well as internal control. The objective
of my tests was to identify reportable findings as described under each subheading but not to gather
evidence to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on
these matters.

Predetermined objectives
10.

I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance
information for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the entity
for the year ended 31 March 2014:
––

Programme 1: Manage and unlock benefits of network of botanical gardens on page 48 – 49.

––

Programme 3: Co-ordinate and provide access to biodiversity information and scientific knowledge
on page 52 – 53.

––

Programme 5: Drive human capital development, education and awareness in response to SANBI’s
mandate on page 58 – 59.

11.

I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability.

12.

I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in
accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance
was consistent with the planned objectives. I further performed tests to determine whether indicators
and targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the
National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme performance information.

13.

I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate
and complete.

14.

I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information
for the selected objectives.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE (continued)
Additional matter
15.

Although I raised no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance
information for the selected strategic goals, I draw attention to the following matter:

Achievement of planned targets
16.

Refer to the annual performance report on page 44 to 62 for information on the achievement of planned
targets for the year.

Compliance with legislation
17.

I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity had complied with applicable legislation
regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances
of material non-compliance with specific matters in key applicable legislation, as set out in the general
notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control
18.

I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual performance report and
compliance with legislation. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control

Cape Town
30 July 2014
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2014

Notes

March

March

2014

2013

R

R

ASSETS
Current assets

201,404,349

142,662,384

Biological assets

2

628,767

707,384

Receivables from exchange transactions

3

2,956,319

3,240,009

Cash and cash equivalents

4

197,819,263

138,714,991

221,078,758

209,784,867

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

5

129,384,478

114,452,347

Investment property

6

72,793,971

75,033,282

Intangible assets

7

4,068,047

5,466,976

Heritage assets

8

14,832,262

14,832,262

422,483,107

352,447,251

167,523,412

111,804,883

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Unspent committed project funds

9

105,726,069

60,272,462

Payables from exchange transactions

10

58,771,573

48,450,305

Provisions

11

3,025,770

3,082,116

25,390,000

50,892,647

10

-

3,067,295

Defined benefit liability

12.1

-

22,600,352

Post-retirement medical benefit

12.2

25,390,000

25,225,000

Total liabilities

192,913,412

162,697,530

Net assets

229,569,695

189,749,721

229,569,695

189,749,721

422,483,107

352,447,251

Non-current liabilities
Payables from exchange transactions

Accumulated surpluses
Total net assets
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
Notes

March

March

2014

2013

R

R

Revenue
Non-exchange Revenue
Government grant - original allocation

264,254,000

207,198,000

206,534,222

139,058,473

Admission fees

36,734,511

32,054,339

Rent received

11,068,689

9,931,231

Other grants, sponsorships and donations

13

Exchange revenue

Investment income

14

6,521,700

5,585,645

Other income

15

3,235,493

3,938,563

1,871,442

1,594,566

839,677

212,841

531,059,734

399,573,658

Sales
Fair value gain less costs to sell on biological assets
Total revenue
Expenses
Personnel costs

16

151,961,102

178,077,903

Personnel costs - projects

16

74,289,643

27,353,892

1,090,912

1,106,912

Cost of sales
Operating expenses

17

94,578,463

75,801,226

Operating expenses - projects

17

69,111,997

43,920,405

Audit fees: external audit

18

1,838,138

2,122,842

Audit fees: external audit - projects

18

243,209

238,978

Audit fees: internal audit

18

622,671

786,233

Depreciation: property, plant and equipment

5

7,793,287

5,911,761

Depreciation: investment property

6

2,239,311

2,229,821

Amortisation: intangible assets

7

2,859,442

2,144,616

39,689

639,263

328,372

528,249

84,243,524

64,348,609

491,239,760

405,210,710

39,819,974

(5,637,052)

Deficit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Foreign exchange loss
Project implementers’ costs
Total expenses
Net (deficit) surplus for the year
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
Accumulated
Note

Surpluses
R

Balance at 31 March 2012
Net deficit for the year 2012/2013
Balance at 31 March 2013
Net surplus for the year 2013/2014
Balance at 31 March 2014

195,386,773
(5,637,052)
189,749,721
39,819,974
229,569,695
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Notes

March

March

2014

2013

R

R

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

569,514,271

438,260,672

Government grant - original allocation

264,254,000

207,198,000

Other grants, sponsorships and donations

251,987,829

182,404,631

53,272,442

48,658,041

492,706,079

355,560,189

Employee benefits

246,780,058

180,694,033

Suppliers and other payments

245,926,021

174,866,156

76,808,192

82,700,483

6,521,700

5,585,645

6,521,700

5,585,645

83,329,892

88,286,128

(24,225,620)

(24,782,510)

Commercial and other income
Payments

Cash inflow from operating activities

Investment income

19

14

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

5

(23,135,306)

(17,453,773)

Purchase of investment property

6

-

(651,848)

Purchase of intangible assets

7

(1,464,431)

(6,730,055)

374,117

53,166

59,104,272

63,503,618

138,714,991

75,211,373

197,819,263

138,714,991

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Note

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
Actuals as
per AFS
2014

Final Budget
2014

Variance
2014

% Variance
2014

R

R

R

R

Actual
Amounts
on a
Comparable
Basis 2014
R

22
Income
Government grant
Other grants,
sponsorships,
donations
Admission fees
Rent received
Investment income
Other income
Proceeds on disposal
of property, plant
and equipment
Fair value gain less
costs to sell on
biological assets

531,059,734
264,254,000
206,534,222

Expenses
Personnel cost
Operating expenses
Audit fees: regulatory
Audit fees: internal
Depreciation
Deficit on disposal of
property, plant and
equipment
Foreign exchange
loss
Net Surplus/
(Deficit)
Capital expenses

491,239,760
226,250,745
249,024,896
2,081,347
622,671
12,892,040
39,689

Net surplus/
(deficit) after capital
expenses
Net cash flow as per
cash flow statement
Variance

565,561,000 (34,501,266)
264,254,000
254,549,000
(48,014,778)

36,734,511
11,068,689
6,521,700
5,106,935

30,000,000
10,508,000
2,100,000
4,150,000

6,734,511
560,689
4,421,700
956,935

839,677

-

839,677

531,719,000 (40,479,240)
312,168,000
(85,917,255)
216,751,000
32,273,896
2,200,000
(118,653)
600,000
22,671
12,892,040
39,689

0%
(19%)
22%
5%
211%
23%

576,410,088
264,254,000
251,987,829

36,734,511
11,430,996
6,521,700
5,106,935
374,117

-

(28%)
15%
(5%)
4%

492,706,079
246,780,058
243,222,003
2,081,347
622,671
-

328,372

-

328,372

-

39,819,974

33,842,000

5,977,974

83,704,009

24,599,737

40,000,000

(15,400,263)

15,220,237

(6,158,000)

21,378,237

(39%)

24,599,737

59,104,272
59,104,272
-
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Note

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
Actuals as
per AFS
2014

Final Budget
2014

Variance
2014

% Variance
2014

R

R

R

R

Net surplus after capital expenses on a comparable basis
Non cash items
Unspent project committed funds
Adjustments for accrual basis accounting entries
Capital expenses
Net deficit as per statement of financial performance
The annual budget is presented on a cash basis
The annual financial statements are presented on the accrual basis

Actual
Amounts
on a
Comparable
Basis 2014
R
59,104,272
9,503,623
(45,453,607)
(32,533,788)
24,599,737
15,220,237
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014
1.

ACCOUNTING POLICY	

1.1

Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Standards of
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP), including any interpretations of such
statements issued by the Accounting Standards Board. Assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses have not
been offset except when offsetting is permitted or required by a Standard of GRAP. The details of any
changes in accounting policies are explained in the relevant notes to the fnancial statements.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in
the accounting policies below. The policies used in preparing the financial statements are consistent with
those of the previous year, unless otherwise stated. Preparation of the financial statements requires the
preparers to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period.
The functional currency of the agency is the South African Rand (R). These annual financial statements are
presented in South African Rand and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest rand.

1.2

Underlying concepts and comparative figures
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis using accrual accounting. Changes in
accounting policies are accounted for in accordance with the transitional provisions in the standard. If no
such guidance is given, they are applied retrospectively, unless it is impracticable to do so, in which case
they are applied prospectively. Comparative figures are restated in the event of a change in accounting
policy or prior period error.

1.3

Projects fund
This Fund comprises temporary funds, which are project specific in terms of agreed terms between the
Institute and funders as well as funds earmarked for major capital projects and also for projects of a noncapital nature. Funding is derived from donations, grants, transfers from the income fund, and interest on
the investment of temporary surpluses in this fund.

1.4

Deferred income
Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are presented in
the statement of financial position as deferred income. The utilisation of the grant, as reflected by the
depreciation of the asset, is disclosed on the statement of financial performance as deferred income
released.
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.5

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions is recognised as income to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Institute and the revenue can be
reliably measured. Revenue from exchange transactions is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. The following specific recognition
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
Admission fees
Admission fees are recognised on a daily basis as and when they become due.
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following criteria have been satisfied:
§§

The significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on
delivery of the goods;

§§

The entity neither retains continually managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

§§

The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

§§

It is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow
to the entity;

§§

The cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases is accounted for based on the lessees’ turnover. This makes
it impractical to account for rental income on a straight line basis. Contingent rental payments are
recognised as income in the period in which they accrue.
Investment income
Investment income is recognised in the period that it accrues using the effective interest rate method.
Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Revenue from non-exchange transactions refers to transactions where the Institute received revenue from
another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange or gives value to another
entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.
Revenue from non-exchange transactions is initially measured at the amount of the increase in net asset
recognised by the entity. An inflow of resources from non-exchange transaction is recognised as an
asset and revenue, except to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow in
instances where the present obligation has not been satisfied.
When the liability is subsequently reduced, because a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction
in the liability will be recognised as revenue
Donations and sponsorships
Ad hoc donations and sponsorships are recognised as income when received.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.6

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
§§

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the SANBI; and

§§

the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment
and costs incurred subsequently to add or replace part of an asset, when such costs meet the recognition
criteria. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or fair value of assets over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight line method, on the following basis:
Item

Motor vehicles
Equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings, art etc.
Computer equipment
Buildings

Useful life

5 - 10 years
5 - 10 years
3 - 8 years
40 years

Buildings reflect improvements to property occupied on long-term leases or on state-owned land
managed by the Institute.
The residual value and the useful life of each asset are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
required. Changes in useful lives gives rise to change in estimates.
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total
cost of the item is depreciated separately.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying
amount of another asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in
profit or loss when the item is derecognised and is determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of financial performance during the year in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.7

Investment property
Investment property comprises land and buildings held by SANBI to earn rentals. Investment property
is situated on state owned land and cannot be disposed of by SANBI without appropriate authorisation.
Where SANBI occupies such property or a significant part thereof, it is classified as an owner-occupied
property, and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for Property plant and equipment.
Investment property is initially recorded at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is
at depreciated historic cost. Land is not depreciated.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of financial performance.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or fair value of assets over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight line method, on the following basis:
Item

Useful life

Investment property

1.8

40 years

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are finite life intangible assets. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in
the statement of financial position.
An intangible asset is recognised when:
§§

it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will
flow to the Institute; and

§§

the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits or service potential
are expected from its use or disposal. The gain/loss from the derecognition of an intangible asset will be
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the
intangible asset. It will be recognised in surplus or deficit for the period.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every financial
year end.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis over its anticipated
useful life, to their residual values as follows:
Item

Computer software

Useful life

3 - 8 years
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.9

Heritage assets
Heritage assets are assets held for their cultural, environmental or historical significance. Heritage assets
are initially recognised at cost, and where heritage assets are received as donation or acquired at nominal
value, the cost is recorded as nil. Heritage assets are not depreciated as they are regarded as having an
infinite useful life. Improvements to heritage assets are considered as sub assets and the useful life of the
improvements is determined with reference to the depreciation charge of the relevant property, plant
and equipment category.
A heritage asset is recognised as an asset if, and only if:
§§

it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will
flow to the entity, and

§§

the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

If SANBI holds an asset that might be regarded as a heritage asset but which, on initial recognition, does
not meet the recognition criteria of a heritage asset because it cannot be reliably measured, relevant and
useful information about it is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.
A heritage asset is not depreciated but SANBI assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication
that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount or
the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset.
Compensation from third parties for heritage assets that have been impaired, lost or given up, shall be
included in surplus or deficit when the compensation becomes receivable.

1.10 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, SANBI estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. If it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs is determined. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Fair value is the amount an asset
could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arms length transaction. Value in
use is the present value of the assets remaining service potential.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss, which is recognised immediately
in surplus or deficit.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets other than goodwill is recognised immediately in surplus or
deficit.
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.11 Financial instruments
Initial recognition
SANBI classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a
financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on SANBI’s Statement of Financial Position when
SANBI becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
When a financial asset or liability is recognised initially, the entity shall measure it at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through the profit and loss, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Fair value
is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between a knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arms length transaction.
Financial assets
SANBI’s financial assets consist of certain Trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
For measurement purposes, all financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables and after initial
measurement are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance
for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities consist of Interest bearing borrowings and certain trade and other payables. For
measurement purposes, all financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost subsequent to initial
recognition.
Amortised cost
Amortised cost is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The
calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and
fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the initial
carrying amount of the financial instrument.
Impairment of financial assets
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been
incurred (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor), the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account.
The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are
assessed as uncollectible.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised
cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset or a portion thereof is derecognised when the entity realises the contractual rights to the
benefits specified in the contract, the rights expire and the entity surrenders those rights or otherwise
lose control of the contractual rights that comprise the financial asset. On Derecognition, the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of the proceeds receivable and any prior
adjustments to reflect the fair value of the asset that were reported in equity is included in net surplus or
deficit for the year.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or has
expired.

1.12 Retirement fund and other post employment benefits
Retirement benefits are provided for employees through separate pension and provident funds to which
both employer and employee contribute.
The funds are regulated by the Pension Funds Act and operated as defined contribution plans managed
by an independent Board of Trustees. The provident fund plan incorporates a defined benefit underpin
for members of the plan prior to November 1995.
Retirement benefits are determined by the contributions to the fund. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method.
Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as
defined contribution plans where SANBI’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in
a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income or expense in the year that they occur.
The past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the average period until
the benefits become vested. If the benefits have already vested, immediately following the introduction
of, or changes to a pension plan, past service costs are recognised immediately.
The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a
discount rate based on corporate bonds), less past service costs not yet recognised and less the fair value
of plan assets out of which the obligation are to be settled. Plan assets are assets that are held by a longterm employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors
of SANBI nor can they be paid directly to SANBI. Fair value is based on market price information and in the
case of quoted securities it is the published bid price. The value of any plan asset recognised is restricted
to the sum of any past service costs not yet recognised and the economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Celebrating and
Championing Biodiversity

for the year ended 31 March 2014

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
The post employment medical benefits are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial
valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets,
future salary increases, mortality rates and pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these
plans, such actuarial estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

1.13 Consumables
Consumables are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in-first-out basis.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of consumables comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. The cost of consumables are assigned using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) formula.
The same cost formula is used for all inventories having a similar nature and use to SANBI.
When consumables are sold, the carrying amounts of those consumables are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of consumables
to net realisable value and all losses of consumables are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of consumables, arising from an
increase in net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of consumables recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.14 Taxation
No provision has been made for taxation, as SANBI is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10
of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act no. 58 of 1962).

1.15 Value Added Tax (VAT)
The Revenue Laws Amendment Act, 2003 (Act No. 45 of 2003), commenced on 22 December 2003.
Previously, the definition of enterprise placed SANBI listed in Schedule 3A, within the scope of VAT.
The Amendment Act, however has amended this definition of enterprise and effectively places SANBI
outside the scope of VAT. The amended definition of enterprise came into operation on 1 April 2005.
Notwithstanding this, certain projects are obliged to register for VAT when certain criteria are met.

1.16 Operating leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date and whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use
of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. Where SANBI does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset,
the lease is classified as an operating lease. Operating lease payments are recognised in the statement of
financial performance as an expense when paid.
SANBI as lessor
Rental income is recognised on a monthly basis as a percentage of the lessees’ turnover.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.17 Fruitless, wasteful and irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a
requirement of any applicable legislation, including:
The State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968) or any regulation made in terms of PFMA.
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been
avoided had reasonable care been exercised.
All irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised against the specific class of expense to which
it relates and disclosed in a note to the financial statements when it has been identified. The expenditure
is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently
accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.18 Significant accounting judgements
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of
available information and the application of judgements are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual
results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial
statements.
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
For the financial period under review, management applied judgements in determining the extended
useful lives of fixed assets in terms GRAP 17 (property, plant and equipment). Refer to accounting policy
note 1.6 to 1.8.
Retirement benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post employment medical benefits as well as the
present value of the pension obligation is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return of assets, future salary
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting
date. In determining the appropriate discount rate management considers the interest rates of corporate
bonds in the respective country with an AAA or AA rating. The mortality rate is based on publicly available
mortality tables for the specific country.
Future salary increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific
country.
Refer to note 12 for further details of assumptions.
Impairment of receivables
Impairment of receivables are recognised when SANBI’s outstanding debtors are above 120 days and
debts which on merit appear to be irrecoverable.
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.19 Foreign currencies
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (rand) are initially recorded at the rates of
exchange ruling on the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in such
currencies are retranslated at the rates ruling on the statement of reporting date. Exchange differences
arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting an enterprise’s monetary items at rates
different from those at which they were initially recorded are recognised as income or expenses in the
year in which they arise.
SANBI did not enter into forward contracts and options in order to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange
risks during the financial year under review.

1.20 Related parties
All transactions and balances with national departments of government and state-controlled entities are
regarded as related party transactions and are disclosed separately in the notes to the annual financial
statements.
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise
significant influence or joint control over the other party in making financial and operational decisions.
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

1.21 Biological assets
SANBI’s main purpose is the conservation of a representative system of biodiversity, encompassing
fauna, flora and unique scenery within the national botanical gardens and the scientific management
of the ecosystem under its management authority. SANBI does not focus on traditional natural resource
management of species, but rather on ecosystem management and ecological integrity within the
botanical gardens. SANBI can intervene in eco-system responsibly and sustainably, but it focuses
management on complementing natural processes (e.g. fires and disease outbreaks) under a minimum
interference philosophy. SANBI does not manage for the reproduction of biodiversity, but for biodiversity
representivity and complementary that promotes resilience and ensures ecosystem integrity. SANBI
acquired the majority of biodiversity at no cost to SANBI. SANBI management is involved in the biological
transformation of fauna and flora primarily to provide the public with the opportunity for recreational
activity, rather than for sale. SANBI does not measure the quantities and value of biological assets as
they are not of a nature that can be easily counted and the gardens cannot keep up with the growth,
generation and procreation of flora and fauna. In addition, SANBI’s conservation of these plants do not
amount to agricultural activity.
However, when surplus plants are on hand these plants are sold to the public. These plants are then
considered to be agricultural produce (in that the intention changes from conservation to sale), therefore
the plants fall into the scope of GRAP 27. These plants are then valued in terms of this standard at fair value
less costs to sell, with the fair value adjustment being included in the statement of financial performance.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.22 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when the organisation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation.
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by
another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated
as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the
provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in the notes.

1.23 Short term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised in the statement of financial performance
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. When an employee has rendered
service to the entity during an accounting period, the entity should recognise the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the service as a liability and as an expense.
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised in the statement of financial performance
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. Benefits include short-term
employee benefits (such as wages, salaries and paid leave) and non-monetary benefits (such as medical
care, housing and cars) for current employees.
Accruals for employee entitlements to salaries, performance bonuses and annual leave represent the
amount of the entity’s present obligation as a result of employees’ services provided up to the reporting
date.
Accruals and provisions are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current salary rates.
Employee entitlements to annual leave is recognised as and when it accrues to employees. An accrual is
made for the liability for annual leave as a result of past services rendered by employees to the year end
date. The organisation allows its employees to accumulate annual leave to a maximum of six months after
the calendar year. The organisation remains liable to pay out an amount equal to the leave balance at the
current rate of remuneration.
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
1.24 Budget information
The annual budget figures have been prepared in accordance with the GRAP standards, and are consistent
with the accounting policies adopted by SANBI for the preparation of these financial statements. The
amounts are scheduled as a separate additional financial statement, called the statement of comparison
of budget and actual amounts. Explanatory comments are provided in the notes to the annual financial
statements. The annual budget figures included in the financial statements are for the entity. The figures
are those approved by the Board.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

2.

March
2013
R

Biological Assets
Reconciliation of carrying amounts of plants for resale
Carrying amount at beginning of the
period
Decreases due to sale, donation and
natural attrition of plants
Fair value of closing balance
Carrying amount at the end of the
period

707,384

1,353,712

(707,384)

(1,353,712)

628,767

707,384

628,767

707,384

These biological assets consist of plants for sale in SANBI’s nurseries and are therefore consumable
biological assets.
The fair value of these plants was determined using an estimated selling price based on marked prices at
SANBI nurseries.
Given that no additional staff is employed for selling the plants and very little time is actually spent by
existing staff on selling plants, costs to sell are considered negligible, and are therefore not taken into
consideration in determining the valuation of the plants.
As these plants represent excess stock of plants actually grown for use in the gardens, the period between
when the plants meet the definition of biological assets and actual sale is too short to result in changes in
value either of a physical or market-related nature.

3.

Receivables from exchange transactions
Trade receivables
Provision for doubtful debts
Accrued income
Sundry receivables

2,350,025
(272,056)
689,444
188,906
2,956,319

2,154,259
(280,847)
992,515
374,082
3,240,009

Trade receivables consist mainly of rental income from restaurants. Trade receivables are non-interest
bearing and based on 30 days from invoice.
Fair value of trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables

2,956,319

3,240,009

Amounts neither past due nor impaired are considered fully recoverable. No credit quality issues are noted.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

March
2013
R

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At
31 March 2014, Rnil (2013: R369,421) were past due, but not impaired.
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
31 to 60 days past due
61 to 90 days past due

-

364,129
5,292
369,421

Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 31 March 2014, trade and other receivables of R272,056 (2013: R280,847) were impaired and provided
for.
The ageing of these loans is as follows:
Current to 90 days past due
Over 90 days past due

127,829
144,227
272,056

21,128
259,719
280,847

280,847
(8,791)
272,056

574,849
(294,002)
280,847

157,515,968
39,078,537
1,224,758
197,819,263

122,422,049
15,086,883
1,206,059
138,714,991

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
Opening balance
Provision provided /(reversed) in the year

4.

Cash and cash equivalents
Short term deposits
Bank balances
Cash on hand

Cash on current accounts at banks earns interest. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of
between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of SANBI and earn
interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
5.

Property, plant and equipment

Cost
On hand at start of period
Purchases
Demolished / disposals / write-offs
On hand at end of period
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at start
of period
Depreciation for the year
Depreciation on disposals / writeoffs
Accumulated depreciation at the
end of period
Net book value at end of period

Cost
On hand at start of period
Purchases
Demolished / disposals / write-offs
On hand at end of period
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at start
of period
Depreciation for the year
Depreciation on disposals / writeoffs
Accumulated depreciation at the
end of period
Net book value at end of period

March 2014
Total
Buildings
Vehicles
R
R
R
184,448,204
125,627,059
17,366,706
23,135,306
7,402,800
7,840,330
(3,176,007)
(808,492)
204,407,503 133,029,859 24,398,544

Equipment
R
41,454,439
7,892,176
(2,367,515)
46,979,100

69,995,857
7,793,287

26,045,789
3,205,855

9,224,428
1,554,126

34,725,640
3,033,306

(2,766,119)

-

(570,927)

(2,195,192)

75,023,025 29,251,644
129,384,478 103,778,215

10,207,627
14,190,917

35,563,754
11,415,346

March 2013
Total
Buildings
Vehicles
R
R
R
174,013,617
116,977,282
12,253,118
17,453,773
8,649,777
5,146,238
(7,019,186)
(32,650)
184,448,204 125,627,059 17,366,706

Equipment
R
44,783,217
3,657,758
(6,986,536)
41,454,439

70,430,808
5,911,761

22,996,160
3,049,629

8,780,661
468,183

38,653,987
2,393,949

(6,346,712)

-

(24,416)

(6,322,296)

69,995,857
114,452,347

26,045,789
99,581,270

9,224,428
8,142,278

34,725,640
6,728,799

In accordance with the mandate as envisaged in the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004
(Act No. 10 of 2004), SANBI is responsible for managing, controlling and maintaining all national botanical gardens.
The majority of the land that is currently utilised as national botanical gardens in the Republic belongs to different
tiers of government, and the control of the land is vested in SANBI in accordance with its mandate.
A register containing the details of property, plant and equipment is available for inspection at the Institute’s
registered office.
There are no restrictions, as no title/property plant and equipment is pledged as security for any liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
6.

Investment property
March 2014

March 2013

Buildings
Cost
On hand at start of period
Purchases
On hand at end of period

R
89,572,478
89,572,478

R
88,920,630
651,848
89,572,478

Accumulated depreciation at start of period
Depreciation for the year
Accumulated depreciation at end of period
Net book value at end of period

14,539,196
2,239,311
16,778,507
72,793,971

12,309,375
2,229,821
14,539,196
75,033,282

6,372,029

7,127,036

Net surplus for the period is stated after:
Income from investment properties - rentals

Operating costs of investment property - occupied by tenants
1,698,342
1,624,187
Operating costs of investment property - unoccupied
63,542
82,708
It is not possible to disclose a fair value of Investment property as the property is not available for sale on
the open market.
A register containing the details of investment property is available for inspection at the Institute’s
registered office.
There are no restrictions, as no title /investment property is pledged as security for any liabilities.

7.

Intangible assets
March 2014
Computer Software
Cost
On hand at start of period
Purchases
Demolished / disposals / write-offs
On hand at end of period
Accumulated amortisation at start of period
Amortisation for the year
Amortisation on disposals / write-offs
Accumulated amortisation at end of period
Net book value at end of period

March 2013

R
9,907,953
1,464,431
(98,032)
11,274,352

R
7,618,751
6,730,055
(4,440,853)
9,907,953

4,440,977
2,859,442
(94,114)
7,206,305
4,068,047

6,717,259
2,144,616
(4,420,898)
4,440,977
5,466,976
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

8.

March
2013
R

Heritage Assets
Opening balance
Cost
Accumulated impairment losses
Additions
(Impairment loss) / reversal of impairment loss
Disposals
Transfer to or (from) heritage assets
Closing balance
Cost
Accumulated impairment losses

14,832,262
14,832,262
-

14,832,262
14,832,262
-

-

-

14,832,262
14,832,262
-

14,832,262
14,832,262
-

The above information relates only to transactions in land purchase that are held indefinitely for the
benefit of present and future generations. The land is protected, kept unencumbered, cared for and
preserved for its natural heritage.
SANBI has a rich and valuable collection of original watercolour plates and pen and ink drawings, housed
at herbaria in Pretoria and Cape Town. The Pretoria collection was built up from around 1916, by the
former Botanical Research Institute, as the original artwork for its many journals and books. It continues
to be added to, as new papers and books are published. Additional smaller collections of artwork were
acquired by means of bequests to the nation or purchased by grants.
The National Herbarium (PRE) houses archived specimens of dried plant material mounted on cardboards
or in packets, stored in cupboards arranged in an accessible system. These plant specimens are kept
in modern steel cabinets with magnetic sealing doors (some are kept in older wooden cabinets made
of different kinds of wood and now forming a valuable collection of examples of worked timber). The
collection currently stands at approximately 1.2 million specimens of which 914,741 are computerised.
Most specimens are from southern Africa, but the collection extends into the rest of Africa and surrounding
islands and includes small collections from outside Africa. Vascular plants, bryophytes and lichens are
represented.
The collection of the PRE was extended by several valuable collections over the years, including that of
E.E. Gal pin and, in 1952, the Transvaal Museum (TRV). More recently the Saasveld Herbarium and the
Forestry Herbarium (PRF) were incorporated in the PRE currently making it by far the largest herbarium
in Africa.
The oldest specimen in this collection is a specimen of Erica mammasa, collected by W.J. Burchell (17811863) on the Cape Flats near Salt River in January 1811. Other historically significant specimens in the
collection includes: dichrostachys cinerea subsp. africana var. africana collected by Burke & Zeyher on
their first trip to the Magaliesberg in 1841 and Ochna pulchra, collected by General J.C. Smuts near the
Pienaars River, 50 miles west of Warmbaths, in October 1932.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

March
2013
R

There are approximately 10,000 type specimens in the collections of the PRE. Type specimens are
scientifically significant specimens in the collection as they are acting as a reference for the plant name,
upon which the name is based.
The cryptogrammic collection of the PRE consists of more than 80,000 mounted specimens of bryophytes
(Hornworths, liverworts and mosses). It contains the largest and most representative collection of
southern African cryptogams. The PRE cryptogrammic herbarium is the largest of its kind in Africa and
one of the largest in the southern hemisphere.
SANBI has two main libraries - the Mary Gunn Library in Pretoria and the Harry Molteno Library in Cape
Town. They rank amongst the biggest botanical libraries in the southern hemisphere and are a valuable
resource for information on Southern African flora and biodiversity.
The Mary Gunn Library dates back to 1916 and is housed in the PRE in Pretoria and is currently the most
comprehensive botanical library of its kind in Africa and serves as one of the important botanical and
biodiversity resources in Africa. The library houses a magnificent Africana and Rare Antiquarian Book
Collection such as the 18 broadsheet edition of Redouté’s Les Liliacées (1807-1816) and the Xylotech
Book Collection by Clementz H. Wehdemann (early 1800s).
The Harry Molteno Library at Kirstenbosch dates back to 1913 when the garden was founded but was
officially started in 1921. Since that time it has grown considerably and has moved several times. It is
presently housed in the Kirstenbosch Research Centre.
The mission of SANBI libraries is to meet the information needs of all SANBI staff and to address a public
demand for comprehensive, easily accessed information on the biodiversity of southern Africa.

9.

Unspent committed project funds
Income
Government grants
Other grants, sponsorships and donations
Investment income
Sales
Other income
Less: expenditure
Expenditure capitalised
Expenditure not capitalised
Unspent committed project funds at beginning of the year
Unspent committed project funds at the end of the year

58,195,000
247,874,705
3,086,251
6,600
309,162,556

15,250,000
178,697,141
2,231,831
20,001
532,608
196,731,581

3,708,476
260,000,473
45,453,607
60,272,462
105,726,069

812,787
152,572,636
43,346,158
16,926,304
60,272,462
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
9.1

Unspent committed project funds: 2014

MTEF
External funded
Unspent committed project funds as at 31 March
2014
Unspent committed project funds: 2013
MTEF
External funded
Unspent committed project funds as at 31 March
2013

10.

Closing
balance
45,817,897
59,908,172
105,726,069
Closing
balance
10,788,616
49,483,846
60,272,462
March
2014
R

Movement
35,029,281
10,424,326
45,453,607

Opening
balance
10,788,616
49,483,846

2,100,829
41,245,329

60,272,462
Opening
balance
8,687,787
8,238,517

43,346,158

16,926,304

Movement

March
2013
R

Payables from exchange transactions
Current
Trade payables
Other payables *
Leave liability
Service bonuses
Income received in advance

10,164,051
32,847,968
10,540,157
5,116,362
103,035
58,771,573

13,015,781
21,646,722
9,325,648
4,368,486
93,668
48,450,305

* Other payables consist mainly of year end accruals.
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30-days.
Non Current
Microsoft volume licensing

-

3,067,295

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities
Microsoft volume licensing is non-interest bearing and is payable over a 3-year period in 3 annual
instalments. The last instalment is due in April 2014 and has been included under trade payables.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
11.

Provisions
Performance and related incentives
Carrying amount at beginning of the period
Increases and additional provisions made during the
year
Reductions in the carrying amounts/ utilisation of
provisions
Carrying amount at the end of the period

12.

Retirement funds

12.1

Post-etirement benefits

3,082,116

3,617,784

2,901,242

3,119,727

(2,957,588)
3,025,770

(3,655,395)
3,082,116

The South African National Biodiversity Institute Retirement Funds consist of the South African National
Biodiversity Institute Provident Fund and the South African National Biodiversity Institute Pension Fund.
Membership of the funds are a prerequisite for all permanently employed staff employed as from the 1st
of December 1994.
The policy is to provide retirement benefits for employees by means of separate Pension and Provident
Funds to which both employee and employer respectively, contribute in equal proportion.
The funds are administered by the South African Mutual Life Assurance Society (Old Mutual), which is
registered in terms of the Pension Fund Act 24 of 1956.
The Provident Fund is a defined contribution fund, except for members in service on or before 30
November 1995 who qualify for a defined benefit from the fund. The Pension Fund is also a defined
contribution fund. The employer contributes to the Provident Fund while the employees’ contribution is
paid to the Pension Fund.
Retirement benefit income statements amounts are included in personnel costs - refer note 16.
Total employer’s contribution

10,753,371

9,385,280

Fair value of defined benefit obligations
Present value of obligation as at 31 March 2013
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
Present value of obligation as at 31 March 2014
Actuarial (gain) / loss

(243,576,237)
(17,967,553)
(9,119,338)
17,284,682
236,177,923
(17,200,523)

(215,913,265)
(17,408,837)
(8,044,600)
30,453,111
243,576,237
32,662,646

Fair value of plan assets
Fair value plan of assets as at 31 march 2013
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets as at 31 march 2014
Actuarial (gain) / loss on plan assets

220,975,885
16,791,621
10,753,371
(17,284,682)
(258,059,792)
(26,823,597)

213,472,776
15,620,300
9,385,280
(30,453,111)
(220,975,885)
(12,950,640)
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R
Unrecognised actuarial gain
Unrecognised actuarial (gain) /loss as at 31 March
2013
Actuarial (gain)/loss on present value of obligation
Actuarial (gain)/loss on fair value of plan assets
Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / loss as at 31
March 2014
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial
position
Present value of funded obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Surplus (deficit) in plan
Unrecognised actuarial gains
Net asset in statement of financial position *
Post - retirement benefits

March
2013
R

(17,200,523)
(26,823,597)

32,662,646
(12,950,640)

(44,024,120)

19,712,006

(236,177,923)
258,059,792
21,881,869
21,881,869

(243,576,237)
220,975,885
(22,600,352)
(22,600,352)

* In terms of GRAP 25 an asset should not be recognised in the entity’s statement of financial position
unless the entity has control of the asset, the asset arises due to past events (e.g. excess contributions)
and the entity has beneficial use of the assets (e.g. via a contribution holiday or cash refund). A liability
must always be recognised.
Current service cost
9,119,338
8,044,600
Interest on obligation
17,967,553
17,408,837
Expected return on plan assets
(16,791,621)
(15,620,300)
Net actuarial losses (gains) recognised in the current
year
(44,024,120)
19,712,006
Net expense recognised in statement of financial
performance
(33,728,850)
29,545,143
Key actuarial assumptions in determining the
above positions
Discount rate annualised yield on R186 (2013:R186)
Inflation rate
Expected rate of salary increases (inflation + 1%)
Expected rate of return on plan assets (actuarial
valuation)

8.57%
6.70%
7.70%

7.50%
6.70%
7.70%

8.57%

7.50%
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
Defined benefit pension plan

Defined benefit
obligation
Plan assets
Surplus (deficit)
Experience
adjustments on plan
liabilities
Experience
adjustments on plan
assets

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

(172,570,646)

(183,736,355)

(215,913,265)

(243,576,237)

(236,177,923)

186,917,313

194,360,087

213,472,776

220,975,885

258,059,792

14,346,667

10,623,732

(2,440,489)

(22,600,352)

21,881,869

(521,238)

4,323,137

13,011,965

32,662,647

(17,200,523)

2,268,617

7,416,623

14,931,638

12,950,640

26,823,597

March
2014
R

12.2

March
2013
R

Post - retirement medical aid benefits
Amounts recognised in the statement of
financial performance
Current service cost
Interest cost
Net actuarial (gains)/loss recognised in the year
Total included in employee benefits [(gain)/
expense]

1,954,000
1,135,000
(2,374,000)

1,170,000
2,070,000
(864,000)

715,000

2,376,000
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R
Amounts Recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position
Post-employment medical benefits:
Present value of funded obligations
Members
Non-members
Net liability in the statement of financial
position

March
2013
R

25,390,000
19,589,000
5,801,000

25,225,000
19,167,000
6,058,000

25,390,000

25,225,000

25,225,000
1,135,000
1,954,000
(550,000)
27,764,000
(2,374,000)
25,390,000

23,450,000
2,070,000
1,170,000
(601,000)
26,089,000
(864,000)
25,225,000

Post - retirement medical aid benefits (continued)
Principal actuarial assumptions at statement of reporting date:
Discount rate 31 March (%)
8.50%
General increases to medical aid subsidy (%)
7.50%
Proportion continuing membership at retirement (%)
100.00%
Proportion of retiring members who are married (%)
90.00%
Retirement age (years)
65

7.50%
7.00%
100.00%
90.00%
65

Movements in the net liability in the
statement of financial position:
Post-employment medical obligation:
Net liability at start of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefit payments
Projected accrued services liability at end of year
Actuarial (gain) loss
Members liability transferred
Net liability at end of year

Projection of liability to 31 March 2015
The projection of the results from 31 March 2014 to 31 March 2015, assuming that the experience follows
the assumptions exactly, is as follows :
Post-employment medical obligation:
Net liability at start of year 01 April 2014
25,390,000
Interest cost
2,134,000
Current service cost
1,256,000
Benefit payments
(581,000)
Projected accrued services liability at end of year
31 March 2015
28,199,000
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The results are dependent on the assumptions used. In order to illustrate the sensitivity of the actuarial
results to changes in certain key variables, the actuaries have recalculated the liabilities using the following
assumptions:
§§

A 1% increase/decrease in the medical aid maxium cap inflation;

§§

A PA(90) and PA(90)-2 in the assumed level of mortality

PA(90)-2 (PA(90) with a two-year adjustment) means that, to each beneficiary a mortality rate of an
individual two years younger than that beneficiary was attached. This implies that a lighter mortality rate
implying that the individual lives longer than expected in the valuation basis.
Medical Aid and maximum cap
inflation
Total Accrued Liability
Service Cost
Interest Cost

-1% Medical Aid
and maximum
cap Inflation
(Rand)
21,303,000
1,004,000
1,787,000

Mortality
Employer’s accrued liability
Employer’s service cost
Employer’s interest cost

Valuation
Assumption
(Rand)
25,390,000
1,256,000
2,134,000

Valuation basis
PA(90)
(Rand)
25,390,000
1,256,000
2,134,000

+1% Medical Aid
and maximum
cap Inflation
(Rand)
30,560,000
1,584,000
2,574,000

PA(90) - 2
(Rand)
26,962,000
1,325,000
2,268,000
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

13.

March
2013
R

Other Grants, sponsorships and donations
Government
Agricultural Research Council
City of Tshwane
Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR)
Department of Environmental Affairs
Department of Environmental Affairs - Natural
Resource Management
Department of Science and Technology
Development Bank of South Africa (DBSA)
Gauteng Department of Agriculture Conservation &
Environment
Medical Research Council
National Research Foundation
Rand Water
Water Research Commission

Foreign
Conservation International
European Commission via Universidad Castilla
Field Museum of Natural History
Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO)
German Development Cooperation (GTZ)
Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF)
International Foundation for Science
JRS Biodiversity Foundation
Natural Research Council
Norwegian Environment Agency
Royal Botanic Gardens Kew
Institute
The Rufford Small Grants Foundation
The World Bank (International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development)
United Nationas Development Programme (UNDP)
United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)
United Nationas Educational Scientific & Cultural
Organisation (UNESCO)
Universite Pierre et Marie Curie

380,000
200,000
1,421,614
92,823,667
36,748,411

851,293
110,600,706
35,784,005

2,231,373
77,941,985
1,600,000

2,700,000
313,000
3,784,480

2,552,946
210,000
440,000
216,549,996

18,750
1,259,232
110,000
155,421,466

752,451
1,212,575
3,512,859
4,182,000
1,495,780
226,094
609,706

961,219
292,360
193,750
1,195,762
2,063,269
126,705
3,447
597,900
99,853
1,112,560
39,559
-

16,140,606
333,796
-

12,136,074
132,020

-

370,822
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March
2014
R

March
2013
R

Other Grants, sponsorships and donations
(continued)
University of Exeter
World Conservation Union (IUCN)
World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF)
Corporate
Coaltech
Distell Limited
Old Mutual
SA Gold Coin Exchange
Umlingani Group
Individuals & Organisations
Jeffrey Chemnik
Alpine Tour Service Co Ltd
Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector
Education & Training Authority (CATHSSETA)
Dylan Lewis
Southern WRITE
Table Mountain Fund
The Botanical Society of South Africa
Living Lands
National Geographic Society
Sustainable Energy Africa

22,113
533,699
29,021,679

482,395
500,000
20,307,695

254,000
2,399,365
300,000
2,953,365

585,000
100,000
2,539,762
100,000
3,324,762

-

190,891
97,182
61,875

62,500
128,510
2,195,310
210,014
2,596,334

32,500
20,000
1,789,102
500,000
10,000
2,701,550
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

March
2013
R

Trusts
BOE Trust Ltd
Botanical Education Trust
Estate Late V C Flugge-De Smidt
Dr Sunshine
Estate Late B Clarke
The Green Trust
Fitzroy Trust
Graaffs Trust
HR Hill Trust
Iziki Trust
Lindbergh Charitable Trust
Rowland & Leta Hill Trust
Sundry trusts
Wildlands Conservation Trust

Other
Bench donations
Sundry donations

Total donations, grants and sponsorships for the
year received
Unspent committed project funds
Total: Other Grants, sponsorships and donations

14.

22,500
73,640
18,527
320,000
80,000
61,379
50,000
1,000
68,400
695,446

22,500
50,000
13,963
2,000
51,000
40,000
50,000
48,599
6,500
50,000
76,000
410,562

120,920
50,089
171,009

184,100
54,496
238,596

251,987,829

182,404,631

(45,453,607)

(43,346,158)

206,534,222

139,058,473

4,245,031
2,276,669
6,521,700

3,672,311
1,913,334
5,585,645

investment income
Interest Revenue
Bank - call accounts
Bank - Project call accounts
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

15.

Other Income
Commission received
Guided tours
Insurance refund
Professional services
Public functions
Staff transport
Sundry income
Use of garden’s facilities

16.

March
2013
R

13,324
648,081
128,259
401
73,547
145,152
2,004,573
222,156
3,235,493

66,215
517,548
512,425
233,195
43,927
118,256
2,224,920
222,077
3,938,563

184,229,538
(33,728,850)
745,414
715,000
151,961,102

145,289,838
29,545,143
866,922
2,376,000
178,077,903

74,289,643

27,353,892

Personnel costs
MTEF
Personnel costs and benefits
Provident fund
Leave and workmen’s compensation
Post retirement medical aid
Projects
Personnel costs and benefits

Personnel costs include all amounts paid to employees including payments to retirement funds as
disclosed in note 12.
The main reason for the increase in project personnel costs and benefits was due to the implementation
of the Groen Sebenza Project. The Groen Sebenza Project is a three-year project which started in April
2013 and will end in March 2016. The employment contracts of all the pioneers is directly linked to the
project term.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

17.

March
2013
R

Operating expenses
MTEF
Bad debts and other losses
Bank charges
Cash collection fees
Cleaning
Computer & internet expenses
Congress, seminars
Consulting fees
Electricity
Employee welfare
Field trips
Information and public
relations
Insurance
Motor vehicle expenses
Legal fees
Photography, railage and hire
Postage, photocopy, courier
Professional services
Recruitments costs
Refuse
Repairs and maintenance
Security
Staff bursaries
Staff training
Stationery
Sundry administration costs
Sundry garden and operating
expenses
Telephone
Travelling costs
Water

683,107
868,362
2,499,529
2,529,891
6,304,793
2,500,789
5,674,837
5,088,737
719,662
175,908
9,953,569

65,304
742,008
2,130,538
2,663,123
4,610,183
1,643,518
6,892,436
5,157,285
613,531
394,154
7,642,564

1,979,517
4,187,512
396,324
289,028
1,361,538
8,295,417
1,840,151
351,266
3,545,519
5,562,127
303,908
985,926
644,148
1,142,022
13,707,114

1,713,201
3,321,759
596,786
260,387
1,653,543
10,064,525
814,054
589,457
3,235,689
5,253,138
380,298
424,576
463,295
918,538
3,704,544

2,557,664
8,833,742
1,596,356
94,578,463

2,248,168
6,559,037
1,045,587
75,801,226
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

Operating expenses (continued)
Projects
Bank charges
Cleaning
Computer & internet expenses
Congress, seminars
Consulting fees
Electricity
Employee welfare
Field trips
Information and public relations
Legal fees
Motor vehicle expenses
Photography, railage and hire
Postage, photocopy, courier
Professional services
Recruitments costs
Rent payable
Repairs and maintenance
Security
Staff bursaries
Staff training
Stationery
Sundry administration costs
Sundry garden and operating
expenses
Telephone
Travelling costs

March
2013
R

41,122
61,642
1,117,054
1,596,791
27,324,687
17,460
41,303
1,199,044
939,792
(283,420)
2,126,401
4,420
138,174
13,015,734
68,064
447,740
82,775
12,027
99,880
6,845,515
476,817
45,268
4,751,003

336,251
58,186
401,440
1,169,442
9,902,802
6,189
42,662
449,107
887,401
1,457,742
2,011,818
57,205
79,906
17,135,733
162,421
303,590
33,488
4,560
160,842
129,187
87,118
32,920
3,155,882

240,145
8,702,559
69,111,997

205,164
5,649,349
43,920,405
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

18.

audit fees

March
2013
R

1,838,138

2,122,842

1,836,439
1,699

2,095,473
27,369

External audit - projects
Audit Fees
Expenses

243,209
243,209
-

238,978
238,978
-

Internal audit
Audit Fees

622,671
622,671

786,233
786,233

2,704,018

3,148,053

External Audit-MTFF
Expenses

External Audit - MTEF
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

19.

March
2013
R

Cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation: property, plant and
5
equipment
Depreciation: investment property
6
Amortisation: intangible assets
7
Investment income
14
Unspent committed project funds
(Surplus)/deficit on disposal of fixed assets
Operating surplus before working capital
changes
Movement in non current payables from exchange
transactions
Movement in defined benefit liability
Movement in post-retirement medical benefit
Working capital changes
(Increase) / decrease in consumables
(Increase) / decrease in biological assets
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other
receivables
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease) / increase in provision

39,819,974

(5,637,052)

7,793,287

5,911,761

2,239,311
2,859,442
(6,521,700)
45,453,607
39,689
91,683,610

2,229,821
2,144,616
(5,585,645)
43,346,158
639,263
43,048,922

(3,067,295)

3,067,295

(22,600,352)
165,000

22,600,352
1,775,000

2
3

10,627,229
78,617
283,690

12,208,914
51,425
646,328
441,589

10
11

10,321,268
(56,346)

11,605,240
(535,668)

76,808,192

82,700,483

Cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

20.

Commitments

20.1

Capital commitments
Commitments in respect of capital expenditure
Approved and contracted for:
Capital projects-infrastructure

20.2

12,909,653

1,644,784

311,307
144,786
456,094

330,510
206,517
537,027

118,170
(118,170)
-

130,094
(130,094)
-

Operating lease commitments
The entity as lessee
Future minimum lease payments under noncancellable
operating leases
Equipment
Payable within one year
Payable within two to five years

21.

March
2013
R

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees
Staff housing guarantees, estimated maximum
Recoverable from retirement funds

SANBI assists qualifying officials partly for housing loans from financial institutions. For this purpose
agreements have been entered into with approved financial institutions to the effect that SANBI
will guarantee a maximum of 20% of the housing loan for which a person qualifies. The maximum
amount is based on the official’s basic salary. SANBI guaranteed 8 loans in the current year (2013: 9). The
guarantees are fully recoverable from the employees’ cash portion of their retirement fund.
Claims submitted by 3rd Party
Three claims totalling R115,000 have been submitted by 3rd parties for injury suffered at various
Gardens. The claims have been submitted to insurers for assessment of liability. The claims are still
under investigation. Three motor related incidents totalling R72,320 have been submitted by 3rd
parties. The claims have been submitted to insurers for assessment of liability. The claims are still under
investigation.
SANBI is currently embroiled in a legal matter with a supplier for an outstanding amount of R143,684.
The amount is still under legal review.
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
22.

Budget information
Overall there is underspending on the budget as a result of timing differences between the funds
received and project plans. The variances between the final budget and actual amount which are
greater than 10% are explained below:
Income
Other grants, sponsorships, donations
Amount per financial statement is net of accounting adjustments. Actual cash received variance is not
matter.
Admission fees
The variance is the result of an increased number of visits to the gardens.
Rent received
The variance is the result of improved processes relating to rental of property and facilities.
Investment income
Favourable variance due to funds available for investment being higher than expected.
Other income
Positive variance arises from higher than expected collections from non-core income.
Expenses
Personnel cost
Recognition of actuarial gains. Vacancies in project due to funding not being available.
Operating expenses
Attributable to timing difference relating to occurrence of project related expenditure.
Capital expenses
Certain capital projects span more than one financial year. Certain expenditure is planned and due
to be incurred in subsequent periods. In total, the projects are adequately budgeted for and the full
budget will be spent according to the project plans.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

23.

March
2013
R

Related Parties
Nature of relationship
Reporting Department
Senior Management
Entities under common control of
reporting department

Name of related party
Department of Environmental Affairs
Refer to Notes 30 & 31
South African National Parks
South African Weather Services
iSimangaliso Wetland Park

The list below is a list of transactions and balances with the related parties
Government grants
Department of Environmental Affairs
264,254,000

207,198,000

Other grants, sponsorships and donations
Department of Environmental Affairs

380,000

110,636,706

Sales
Department of Environmental Affairs
South African National Parks

11,194
4,640

752,301
5,202

Accounts receivables
Department of Environmental Affairs
South African National Parks

84,649
4,640

84,649
520

Purchases
Department of Environmental Affairs
iSimangaliso Wetland Park Authority
South African National Parks

2,664,624
2,492,478
10,001,031

5,537,073

Accounts payables
iSimangaliso Wetland Park Authority
South African National Parks

542,478
1,058,977

1,386,000

South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) mandate derives from the National Environmental
Management Biodiversity Act ( No.10 of 2004) , and a national public entity as listed under Schedule
3A of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as amended. In the ordinary course
of business, the entity enters into various sales and purchase transactions on an arm’s length basis at
market rates with other state controlled entities.
SANBI does not have control or significant influence over any other entity.
Management is required to declare all instances of interests in contracts relating to SANBI’s business.
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
24.

Risk Management
In the course of SANBI’s operations it is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risk. SANBI has developed
a comprehensive risk strategy in terms of Treasury Regulation 27.2 (require a public entity to have a
comprehensive risk management strategy, which includes a fraud prevention plan) in order to monitor
and control these risks. The risk management process relating to each of these risks is discussed under
the headings below.
SANBI’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on SANBI’s financial performance. SANBI does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. Risk management is performed by
management under policies approved by the executive committee. Management identifies, evaluates
and manages financial risks in close co-operation with SANBI’s operating units.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.
SANBI’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Institute
manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities.
Cash flow forecasts are prepared.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and obtaining the continued
commitment from the Department of Environmental Affairs for the government grant and related
project funding.
Due to the nature of the business, management maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining
expenses below budget.
The table below analyses SANBI’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Carrying amounts equate to their
fair values.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)

Trade and other payables
Less than 1 month
Between 1 and 3 months
Between 4 and 12 months
Later than 1 year

At 31 March 2014

Trade and other
payables

31 March
2014

31 March
2013

55,569,895
3,083,071
118,606
58,771,573

41,533,316
6,741,302
175,688
48,450,305

Total

Less than 1
month

Between
1 and 3
months

Between
4 and 12
months

Later than
1 year

R

R

R

R

R

58,771,573

55,569,895

3,083,071

118,606

-

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
SANBI obtains competitive rates from approved financial institutions on a monthly basis. SANBI’s
exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the statement
of reporting date are as follows:
March 2014
Effective
Amount
interest rate
Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Total financial assets
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities

157,515,968
157,515,968
157,515,968
157,515,968

5.0%
0.0%

March 2013
Effective
TOTAL
interest rate
122,422,049
122,422,049
122,422,049
122,422,049

5.0%
0.0%
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

March
2013
R

Interest rate risk - deposits
As SANBI has significant interest-bearing assets, hence SANBI’s income and operating cash flows are dependent
on changes in market interest rates.
SANBI reviews its interest rate exposure on a regular basis. Market rates are compared with stable and creditrated financial institutions. Various institutional rates are simulated taking into consideration terms of deposits,
availability of cash resources and any related risk factors. Based on these scenarios, the impact of a positive 1% shift
in deposit interest rates will have R1,575,160 (2013: R1,224,220) on income.
Sensitivity analysis
Deposit rate
Deposit rate
1 % higher
1 % higher
Investment income
1,575,160
1,224,220
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation.
Financial assets, which potentially subject SANBI to the risk of non-performance by counter parties, consist mainly
of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.
SANBI limits its treasury counter-party exposure by only dealing with well-established financial institutions
approved by National Treasury through the approval of their cash management policy in terms of Treasury
Regulation. SANBI’s exposure is continuously monitored by the Accounting Authority.
SANBI does not have any material exposure to any individual or counter-party. SANBI’s largest concentration of
credit risk is limited mainly to the sale of plants. No events occurred in the industry during the financial year that
may have an impact on the accounts receivable that has not been adequately provided for.
SANBI no longer assists qualifying employees to obtain 100% housing loans from financial institutions without a
cash deposit, as the financial Institution concentrate more on the affordability other than what the staff member
qualifies for. However, these guarantees are fully recoverable from the employees’ cash portion of their retirement
fund.
Due to the nature of the Institute’s financial instruments, it is highly unlikely that the Institute will encounter
difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
March
2014
R

March
2013
R

Risk management (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk of financial assets at year end:
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Guaranteed loans

3,228,375
197,819,263
118,170

3,520,856
138,714,991
130,094

Fair value of financial assets at year-end
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

3,228,375
197,819,263

3,520,856
138,714,991

Foreign currency risk
The entity does not operate internationally, but undertakes some transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, and is thus exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from fluctuations in foreign currencies.
The entity does not hedge itself against exposure to foreign exchange risk. Foreign currency exposure at
financial year-end relates to trade payables and is disclosed under Note 10.
Sensitivity analysis
USD Spot Rate
USD Spot Rate
5% Increase
5% Increase
Foreign currency
174,778
290,636

25.

Irregular expenditure
25.1 Reconciliation of irregular expenditure
Opening balance
Add: irregular expenditure – relating to current year
Less: amounts recoverable (not condoned)
Less: amounts condoned
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation

26.

-

93,262
78,703
(171,965)
-

Capital management policy
The objective of SANBI is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain public sector confidence and
to sustain future development of SANBI. The Institute is a schedule 3A public entity and reports to the
Department of Environmental Affairs and the latter reports to National Treasury.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
27.

Standards of GRAP approved but not yet effective
SANBI has not early adopted the following standards of GRAP which have been issued but are not yet
effective. The Minister of Finance has indicated when these standards will be effective.
GRAP 6: Consolidated and separate
financial statements

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

IGRAP 11: Consolidation – special
purpose entities

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

IGRAP 12: Jointly controlled entities
– Non-monetary contributions by
ventures

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

GRAP 18: Segment reporting

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

GRAP 32: Service concession
arrangements: grantor

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

GRAP 105: Transfer of functions between This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
entities under common control
SANBI
GRAP 106: Transfer of functions between This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
entities not under common control
SANBI
GRAP 107: Mergers

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

GRAP 108: Statutory receivables

This standard will not have an impact on the financials of
SANBI

ANNUAL REPORT
2013/14

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2014

0128

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
28.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet
effective
GRAP 20: Related parties
The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting entity’s annual financial statements contain
the disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and surplus or
deficit may have been affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and outstanding
balances with such parties.
An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting (in this
standard referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this standard in:
§§

identifying related party relationships and transactions;

§§

identifying outstanding balances, including commitments between an entity and its related
parties;

§§

identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the items in (a) and (b) is required; and

§§

determining the disclosures to be made about those items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party relationships, transactions and outstanding balances,
including commitments in the consolidated and separate financial statements of the reporting entity
in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. This
standard also applies to individual annual financial statements.
Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding balances, including commitments, and relationships
with related parties may affect users’ assessments of the financial position and performance of
the reporting entity and its ability to deliver agreed services, including assessments of the risks and
opportunities facing the entity. This disclosure also ensures that the reporting entity is transparent about
its dealings with related parties. The standard states that a related party is a person or an entity with the
ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant influence over the other party,
or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control. As a minimum, the following
are regarded as related parties of the reporting entity:
§§

§§

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the reporting entity if that
person:
––

has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

––

has significant influence over the reporting entity;

––

is a member of the management of the entity or its controlling entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:
––

the entity is a member of the same economic entity (which means that each controlling
entity, controlled entity and fellow controlled entity is related to the others);
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
––

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of an economic entity of which the other entity is a member);

––

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

––

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

––

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
entity or an entity related to the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are related to the entity;

––

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

––

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over that entity or is a member of the
management of that entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.
The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification of:
§§

Close member of the family of a person;

§§

Management;

§§

Related parties;

§§

Remuneration; and

§§

Significant influence

The standard sets out the requirements, inter alia, for the disclosure of:
§§

Control;

§§

Related party transactions; and

§§

Remuneration of management

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2014.
The entity has chosen to early adopt this standard.

29.

Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in
the current period
In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective
for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
IGRAP 1: Interpretation of GRAP: Applying the probability test on initial
recognition of exchange revenue
An entity assesses the probability of each transaction on an individual basis when it occurs.
Entities shall not assess the probability on an overall level based on the payment history
of recipients of the service in general when the probability of revenue is assessed at initial
recognition.
The full amount of revenue will be recognised at initial recognition. Assessing impairment is
an event that takes place subsequently to initial recognition. Such impairment is an expense.
Revenue is not reduced by this expense.
The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.
The entity has adopted the interpretation for the first time in the 2014 annual financial
statements.
The impact of the interpretation is not material.

GRAP 25: Employee benefits
The objective of GRAP25 is to prescribe the accounting and disclosure for employee benefits.
The Standard requires an entity to recognise:
§§

a liability when an employee has provided service in exchange for employee benefits
to be paid in the future; and

§§

an expense when an entity consumes the economic benefits or service potential
arising from service provided by an employee in exchange for employee benefits.

GRAP25 must be applied by an employer in accounting for all employee benefits, except
share based payment transactions.
The standard states the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of:
§§

Short-term employee benefits;
––

All short-term employee benefits;

––

Short-term compensated absences;

––

Bonus, incentive and performance related payments;

§§

Post-employment benefits: defined contribution plans;

§§

Other long-term employee benefits;

§§

Termination benefits.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.
The entity has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.
The impact of the standard is not material.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)
30. Board Members’ Emoluments
Fees for the Board and Committees meetings for the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 (1 April 2012 to 31
March 2013) were as follows:

Name
Mr T Sokutu*

Board Chairperson Resigned
09/09/2013

Mrs ME Magomola

Acting Chairperson from
11/09/2013

Dr T Abrahamse**

Chief Executive Officer

R

R

2014

2013

Fees

Fees
-

-

15,940

13,635

-

-

Mr F Mketeni***

-

-

Mr G Mashamba***

-

-

Mr T Frost

47,626

34,698

Mr JG Dladla

19,273

32,469

Mr VK Naicker

8,571

8,260

Mrs NN Mnqeta

20,206

16,388

Mrs BD Ngidi

25,868

28,137

Dr JM Matjila

27,419

22,949

Dr ST Cornelius

30,288

27,423

-

5,375

2,909

2,753

Dr B Fanaroff

Resigned 15/05/2013

Prof CT Chimimba
Dr K Badenhorst

Appointed 01/06/2013

8,726

-

Mr S Gounden

Appointed 01/01/2014

2,909

-

209,735

192,087

* Elected not to receive remuneration
** Remunerated as Executive member
*** No honoraria were paid- State employee

Chief Director:
Biodiversity
Research,
Information and
Monitoring

JS
Donaldson

604,278

622,543

726,300

Chief Director:
Conservation
Gardens and
Tourism

215,558

284,728

30,456

149,921

368,402

411,022

50,357

51,879

60,525

55,888

74,279

48,600

R

Service
Bonus

-

12,480

12,480

16,200

16,200

16,200

R

Cell
phone
Allow
R

56,377

58,082

58,082

-

72,769

95,085

Performance
Bonus

29,625

29,625

29,625

29,625

24,345

34,904

R

Medical &
UIF

Short-term benefits

60,000

-

133,438

158,964

-

60,000

R

Travel
Allowance
R

Gratuity
& Acting
Allowance

-

-

-

-

-

-

R

Housing

-

-

-

-

-

-

R

49,098

50,582

59,012

54,429

63,972

78,952

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

1,077,772

1,109,917

1,113,637

1,135,681

1,398,647

1,732,667

R

Total
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CK Willis

670,655

778,680

1,004,101

R

R

MJ
Chief Director:
Netshiombo Human Resources

Head of Branch:
Biodiversity
Research, Policy
and Knowledge
Management

CH Mbizvo

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

ME Khoahli Chief Corporate
Officer

Chief Executive
Officer

Status

TE
Abrahamse

Name

Executive Management April 2013 to March 2014
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)

Chief Director:
Biodiversity
Planning and
Policy Advice
Chief Director:
Biosystematics
and Collections

Status

Director: Financial
Management

Director:
Zoological
Systematics
Programme
Manager:
Grasslands
Curator:
Kirstenbosch
National Botanical
Garden
Director:
Ecosystem
Adaptation

AT Smith

ML Hamer

M Barnett

PH le Roux

AC
Stephens

Director: Research
and Monitoring

TR Frantz

GF Midgley Chief Director:
Climate Change
Adaptation

GF Smith

KE Maze

Name

483,928

573,052

498,555

483,928

564,706

545,143

684,304

737,197

187,967

131,719

251,730

242,972

149,076

256,427

152,808

165,571

228,878

R

R

604,278

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

40,327

47,754

-

40,327

46,353

45,429

57,025

61,433

50,357

R

Service
Bonus

12,480

12,480

12,480

-

12,480

-

12,480

12,480

12,480

R

Cell
phone
Allow
R

45,149

51,690

48,646

45,149

44,482

-

-

-

56,377

Performance
Bonus

16,785

21,345

10,425

1,785

1,785

19,065

29,625

10,425

34,905

R

Medical &
UIF

Short-term benefits

40,006

-

72,000

47,343

-

-

-

-

41,400

R

Travel
Allowance

-

-

-

-

-

36,199

-

20,000

10,000

R

Gratuity
& Acting
Allowance

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

20,400

R

Housing
R

39,319

46,560

-

39,319

45,829

44,293

55,600

59,897

49,098

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

865,961

884,600

893,836

900,824

900,910

910,356

1,011,842

1,077,403

1,077,772

R

Total
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)

Status

Director:
Biodiversity Policy
Advice
ES Moeng Director: Human
Resources
JS Dini
Director:
Ecological
Infrastructure
SW
Director:
Willoughby Information
Management
VI Malema Director:
Biodiversity
Education and
Empowerment
PJ Ivey
Programme
Leader: Invasive
Species
K Sink
Principal Scientist
K Qwede
Director:
Biodiversity
Mainstreaming
F Richards
Director:
Information
Technology
TI Bouwer
Chief Financial
Officer
LVE Ralepeli Director: CEO
Office and Board
Secretary

AL Driver

Name

131,763

234,332

128,389

242,972

184,660

198,272
142,531

116,011

130,653

112,160

83,680

483,928

498,555

483,928

476,773

539,914
539,914

525,122

494,921

425,514

318,504

R

R

564,583

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

-

78,958

-

18,613

7,280

8,145

11,440

2,080

-

9,600

9,600

8,400

5,760

7,500

R

Cell
phone
Allow
R

34,569

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

45,149

47,281

Performance
Bonus

1,041

1,041

1,636

30,745

34,905
1,785

1,785

1,785

10,425

10,425

19,065

R

Medical &
UIF

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

113,287

R

Travel
Allowance
R

Gratuity
& Acting
Allowance

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

54,720

R

Housing
R

23,888

37,835

37,119

41,890

42,185

38,738

39,319

40,508

39,319

45,872

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

468,963

663,653

675,770

734,461

773,091
748,973

806,006

817,932

841,109

859,241

863,113

R

Total
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22,558

39,731

40,327

41,546

40,327

47,049

R

Service
Bonus

Short-term benefits
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AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)

Programme
Manager :
Working for
Wetlands
Director:
Marketing and
Communications
Director: Supply
Chain and Asset
Management
Principal Scientist
Director:
Marketing and
Communications

UR Bahadur

KA Tolley
TN
Mthembu

KS Moloto

TS Dlamini

Status

Name

5,547

44,993
-

-

15,162

R

Service
Bonus

5,163,941 1,125,344

17,420

65,702

15,808,280

36,470
32,145

63,327

179,971
97,400

261,945

81,919

R

R

269,957

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

244,790

-

4,160
-

6,005

3,900

R

Cell
phone
Allow

-

-

-

-

758,887

R

Performance
Bonus

470,459

297

11,635
3,177

4,652

12,172

R

Medical &
UIF

Short-term benefits

-

-

-

-

726,438

R

Travel
Allowance

-

-

-

-

66,199

R

Gratuity
& Acting
Allowance

-

-

-

-

75,120

R

Housing

5,344

16,872
7,305

19,646

-

1,171,799

R

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

25,611,257

94,310

294,102
140,027

355,574

383,111

R

Total
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)

KE Maze

GF Smith

Chief Executive
Officer
Head of Branch:
Biodiversity
Research, Policy
and Knowledge
Management
Chief Corporate
Officer
Chief Director:
Human Resources
Chief Director:
Conservation
Gardens and
Tourism
Chief Financial
Officer
Chief Director:
Biosystematics
and Collections
Chief Director:
Biodiversity
Planning and
Policy Advice

Status

563,773

646,844

208,541

200,204

193,426

263,778

580,817

731,973

64,578

637,285

127,351

342,800

727,688

625,703

384,288

R

R

950,854

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

46,981

57,315

19,961

48,401

56,468

52,142

60,641

79,238

R

Service
Bonus

-

12,480

12,480

14,500

12,480

16,200

16,200

16,200

Cell
phone
Allow
R
R

46,057

-

-

47,449

47,449

-

60,339

77,678

Performance
Bonus

34,761

10,281

1,641

29,481

29,481

29,481

24,201

38,948

R

Medical &
UIF

Short-term benefits

-

-

-

-

133,438

158,964

-

60,000

R

Travel
Allowance
R

Gratuity

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

20,400

R

Housing

R

45,806

52,812

56,395

47,191

52,031

50,838

59,125

77,257

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

958,398

1,000,336

1,017,896

1,029,598

1,036,931

1,060,680

1,290,993

1,668,262

R

Total
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TI Bouwer

MJ
Netshiombo
CK Willis

ME Khoahli

TE
Abrahamse
CH Mbizvo

Name

Executive Management April 2012 to March 2013
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Status

Chief Director:
Biodiversity
Research,
Information and
Monitoring
GF Midgley Chief Director:
Climate Change
Adaptation
TR Frantz
Director: Research
and Monitoring
AC Stephens Programme
Manager:
Grasslands
PH le Roux
Curator:
Kirstenbosch
National Botanical
Garden
ES Moeng
Director: Human
Resources
JS Dini
Director:
Ecological
Infrastructure
AL Driver
Director:
Biodiversity Policy
Advice
M Barnett
Director:
Ecosystem
Adaptation
ML Hamer
Director:
Zoological
Systematics
AT Smith
Director: Financial
Management

JS
Donaldson

Name

195,221

158,403

231,534

229,453

121,579

218,046

111,612

150,984

166,345

226,686

136,998

623,239

495,563

463,016

534,643

451,490

465,140

501,656

451,490

451,490

518,956

R

R

563,773

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

43,246

37,624

37,624

43,895

38,762

37,624

44,554

37,999

41,140

53,203

46,981

R

Service
Bonus

12,480

-

9,160

7,500

8,400

5,760

12,480

12,480

-

12,480

12,480

Cell
phone
Allow
R
R

-

5,500

-

-

-

36,884

37,437

-

-

-

4,365

Performance
Bonus

1,641

1,641

16,641

18,921

10,281

10,281

21,201

10,281

18,921

29,481

29,481

R

Medical &
UIF

Short-term benefits

-

-

45,341

-

-

-

-

72,000

-

-

60,000

R

Travel
Allowance
R

Gratuity

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Housing
R

42,165

36,684

36,684

40,916

37,793

36,684

43,452

-

40,253

50,733

45,806

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

755,487

759,625

763,285

763,872

671,987

796,769

815,346

825,229

827,411

927,540

958,107

R
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 MARCH 2014 (continued)

Chief Specialist
Scientist
Programme
Leader: Invasive
Species
Director:
Biodiversity
Mainstreaming
Director: Financial
Management
(Internal Controls)

MC
Rutherford
PJ Ivey

TD Lewis
1,091,547

13,485,841 4,794,484

-

-

47,287

-

39,484

46,283

37,624

37,068

R

Service
Bonus

-

-

40,368

91,382

251,865

209,887

18,967

126,263

194,394

195,982

226,686

94,575

294,889

365,960

403,455

434,998

168,616

R

R

444,820

Non-Pens
Allow

Salary

223,570

-

-

-

1,250

-

9,360

-

9,600

9,600

Cell
phone
Allow
R

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

363,157

R

Performance
Bonus

250

945

1,344

9,412

1,641

1,641

411,879

125

12,024

17,452

R

Medical &
UIF

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

529,743

R

Travel
Allowance

-

-

-

-

-

236,795

35,654

-

-

201,142

R

Gratuity

81,120

-

-

-

6,000

-

-

-

-

54,720

R

Housing

-

15,742

-

14,656

-

31,999

33,733

36,684

36,142

1,021,579

R

Pension

Postemployment
benefits

22,239,716

35,778

278,020

360,699

384,126

422,097

642,540

688,865

747,232

752,607

R

Total

0138

K Qwede

Principal Scientist

Director:
Biodiversity
Education and
Empowerment
Director:
Information
Management
Director:
Marketing and
Communications
Director:
Information
Technology

Status

K Sink

SM
Mpungose

P Gozo

SW
Willoughby

VI Malema

Name

Short-term benefits
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Copies of this report are available from:
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Private Bag X7, Claremont, 7735
Tel: 021 799 8800 • Fax: 021 762 3229
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Tel: 012 843 5000 • Fax: 012 804 3211
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